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10 A.M.

I feel, out of an

Jury called; one

MONDAY, JULY 22, 1912:

Defendant in cour t with couns el •

absent.

THE COURT. Gentlemen, 1 have a telephone message from Dr.

always more or less unsatisfactory.

Faylen of EI Monte, saying that Juror Leavitt is sick and

probably has appendicitis. He doesn't give much en­

couragement ot Ilis being back this afternoon or tomorrow,

but the court deems it proper, under the circumstances, out

of an abundance of caution, to send a doctor of the court's

own choosing, to send in a report. 1 do not happen to know

the doctor. He telephoned in and telephone messages are

abundance of precaution, a doctor should be selected by the

courtand; sent out to make a definite report. After con­

sulting in chambers with the attorneys, they do not object

to the gentleman 1 have in mind. 1 am going to appoint

Dr. Beckett, of this city, whom. I have not communicated with,

but assuming that he will be available, I shall ask Dr.

Beckett to make a trip to El Monte, as soon as possible

and make a thorough exalliination of the juror and report

here at 10 0 'cloCk tomorrow mornir.g.

MR. ROGERS. Migtt I suggest to your Honor an alternate

might do if Dr. ·Beckett cannot go?

THE COURT. In case·Dr. Beckett is not available 1 t'Till

make" another selection, and w-uld probably seleGt Dr.

Leymone~l~11s--
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MR. ROGERS. That is agreeable.to us.

MR. FREDERICKS. That is agreeable to us.

THE COURT. 1 trust one or the other of these gentlemen

will be avail,able, if not 1 will make anotber selection,

but will communicate with the attorneys on either side so

if there might be the relation of attorney and client he

might not be able to act. 1 think there is nothing to do

here but adjourn until tomorrow morning at 10 o'clock.

Gentlemen of the jury, you have heard the reasons

stated and understand the reasons. As much as the court

regrets it, it will be necessary to adjourn the further

hearing of this case until tomorrow morning at 10 o'clock.

(Jury admonished. Recess until July 23, 1912, 10

o'c1ock A.M. )



1 July 23. 1912. 10 o'clock A.M.
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2 Defen dant in court with counsel. JUlY called; one absent.

3 Gentlemen. in regard to juror Leavitt. Dr Beckett

4 t::'. himself tq a good deal of lbnconvenienc e yesterday and

5 omplied with the request -- it was not ml order of the

6

7

8

court. but a request. end went out to E1 Monte. and as he

had some op erations to parforn at this hour. he asked to

make his re~ort a written one, which is as follows. ad-

9 dressed to me. d.ated yesf:erday: "At your request I have

10 just visited Mr A. L. Leavitt at his home in E1 Monte.

11 with his f'mni~" physician. Dr Saylin." I c all your at-

12 tention to the fact I misstated the name of the doctor

13 yesterday. I stated it as I got it over the telephone.

14 It is Dr Saylin. whom I happen to know very \'\611.

15 . (Reading: 1 ttI fin d that he has sutfered with three at tacks,

of acute abdominal pain in the region of the appendix

and right kidney, during the past three days. These

attacks have been of short duration and he has been p rac-

at about 12 o'clock, he had recovered from 8 very severe

attack of pain this moming and was resting very comfor­

tably in bed. with no abdominal tenderness and with a nor­

mal temperature and pUlse.

Inasmuch as he had so improved from his mo ming condi-
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tically ~~ll during the intervals. When I saw him today
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::~n. Dr 8l\Ylin end I thought that a surgical operation

26 Cdl\Y to reli eve his condi tion i 8 not mvisllble. Ho""'" er
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we felt it best for him to remain quietly for a day or two

until we are assured he is not liable to have a return of

his trouble. It is our opinion that he might be abl e to

return to court within two or three days, md may, ~s during

the past two weeks ,remain free from any further disturb­

mlce. However, his condition is such that a return of his

attecks might take place. On the other hand, he might go

for a number of weeks without eny trouble whatever. It

I will leave this vri th th e cl ark so it may be referred

to. In a dditi on to that, I had a telephone m ESseg e from

Dr Isaac Saylin this morning in mich the Doctor tells me

that the patient is still in bed, but doing ,vell; end that

he deems it quite probable that he could be here tomorrow

morning at 10 o'clock, if we adj ourn unt il that time.

I might add that subsequent to the tlj>ephone message fran

Dr Say-lin I had a telephone message fran th e wife r:t the

patient, Who insists quite vigorously that he vdll not be

able to return, but as Dr Saylin and Dr Beckett both

seem to be of th e opinion t hat he may come back tomorrow,

the court deems it best that the case go over for another

day, and for those reasons, unless counsel on either side

desire to be. heard on the matter --

CUr Fredericks and Mr Rogers consult with the court.)

THE COURI.': The order of continuance will be me.de until
25
26 Ltom~ rroV! mo ming at 10 0 'clock. I might say that I eXPect

to personally see the pati ent during th e day and from the
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1 conflicting repo Its, to be able to exercise a little bet-

2 ter jUdgment as to the real facts, and I shall make it a

3 point to visit the juror's home and consult himself and

4 hisfmnily during the day sometime, md ~rom the statement

5 of both of the doctors, I hope he will be in court romorrow

6 morning at 10' O'clock, but, unde.r the circumstances, I deem

7 it best to have this furt her continuanc e.

8 Gentlemen ci: the jury, you have heard the reason stated

9 and it is unnecessary to go over them f£8in.

10 (J"uryfdmonished, recess until july 24, 1912, at 10

11 A.M.)
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1 July 24th, 19~~ 10 o'clock A.M.

2 D3fendant in court with counsel.· Jury called; one

3 absent.

4 TP..E COUR[': ~entlemen, in regard to the juror Leavitt,

. 5 pursuant to the statement made fran the bench yesterday

6 morning, I motored out to the juror'S residence yesterday

7 afternoon in company with Juror Williams, a.nd visited Mr

8 Leavitt. He had just had a consultation with his IlhYsi-

9 cian and t~y v.ere both of th e opinion t hat. if the pati ent

10 could remain under treatment for another day, he would.
11 be able to come here tomorrow morning. That information

12 wes confirmed by telephone message again this morning;

13 both from yr Leavi tt, personally, rod from Dr Isaac

14 Saylin, his physician. I am aware of the fact that the

15 unusual rebi ts of lif'e have been very hard on all of th e

isfied that the few days of rest and outdoor exercise on

their roof-gurden and motoring, has tended to bring up the

general standard of health of all of the jurors, and

under the circumstances stated, the jUdgment of' the court

is that it is better that the matter go over until to-

I am sat-jurors, not only Mr Leavitt, but the others.

morrow morning at 1m o'clock.

Gentlemen of the jury, you have heard the reasons stat­

ed, rod will 19ain bear in mind your former admonition

to ref'rain from talking about this case among you !'Selves

or permitting any oth er person to talk to you and refra!
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1 from expressins any opinion com eming this' case until

2 the whole matter is submitted to you. The further h ear-

3 ing of this case will now adj ourn until 10 o'clock tomor­

4 row mo rning. .
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1 july 25, 1912. 10 o'clock A~f.
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2 Defendant in court with counsel.

9 MR ROGERS: It you r Honor please, \vi th respect to juror

10 Leavitt --

4 sance of the ,jury this morning at the request of Mr Rogers.

5 just a moment. I will make a statement in regard to the

6 absent juror. I have a telephone message saying that he

7 left his home in El Monte at 25 minutes of 10, aad should

8 be here in 10 or 15 minutes.

3

11

THE eOURT:

THE eQUID': I

Gentlemen, I have convened court in the ab-

wil1mnplify that just a little. In

12 the communication, 1,!rs Leavitt stated that Mr Leavitt was

13 better, but ver,y nervous, bUt would be here the best he

14 could. That is my entire information on the SUbject.·

15 MR ROGERS: If your Honor pleases, the return of juror
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Leavitt presents two considerations which the defendant

desires formally to present to your Honor as they have been

intimated to your Honor in chambers.

Upon the sickness of juror Leavitt, as those things do

come in the case, even" man in the pI' actitre understands

how they do emme, there have been persons of good repute

in the community in which juror Leavitt resides, \Vho are

persons related to him by blood and marriage, who have

placed in the possession of defendant , information COD@

25

l
_c errdng the

26 asking your

. .

. .

si tuation Vlhic h \ve believe justifies us in

Hon~r's intervention at this time.
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frankly t hat 'Ate have issued sUbpoenaes for certain of the

persons, l\nd in view of the fact that certain of the infor-

mation c~e to me only as late as 7 o'clock this mor.ning,

I have not been able to SUbpoena all we desire to pro­

duce. For instance, the brother-in-law of ~uror Leavitt

came to me this morning at 7 o'clock, and said t hat ~uror

Leavitt was peejudiced against the defense, and that he

had ex:pressed himself to him, lIr Hill, his brother-in-law,

ts being bitterly and intensely prejudiced fgainst union

labor and everything that union labor stood for or repre­

sented. I received a telephone from E1 Monte from a very

reputable citizen there, saying much the same thing, end

after notitying your Honor that I intended to make an in­

vestigation, I went out to El Monte, and there I found wit­

nesses who had talked with ~uror Leavitt before his qual­

ification upon the jury, to whom he had made certain state­

ments which indicate a condition and state of mind which

precludes his acting with entire fairness and impartiality

in this case. I am not sure that the law has provided ,

or that there has been decision to provide a method by

vhich this matter can entirely be reached, but knowing

t hGt your Honor's disposition throughout this case has

been to insure absolutely a fair and impartial trial,

in view of this infonnation which has reached us since

the sickness of ~uror LeaVitt, brought the matter to pUb

notice, I beli we it right to call your Honor's attenti
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NOW, this presents a condition, if your Honor pleases,

which gives us all some pause and gives us some reason

for pause; it is within the possibilities that Juror Leavitt

honestly did bel'ieve that he could sit fairly and impar­

tially in this case, and that his verdict, pertt'hance, might

be received, no matter which w~ it went, 8S his own honest

and impartial verdict; it is within the possibilities,

to these facts. I understand fran the man himself, that

~uror Leavitt said to ~eff Steele of E1 Monte, that he be­

lieved certain things concerning the defendant, Darrow,

which if he beli wed, as h e ~ressed himself to this wit­

ness, precludes his acting wi th entire fairness and im­

partiality in the matter, and precludes the possibility,

if he adheres to th e views which he then expressed, of

the defense receiving from him a fair and impartial trial.

I understand, if the court please, he expressed the same

thing to AlbertKerns;) a resident of El Monte, of high stand

ing and high character, a man who has been a juror in your

Honor's court, a man who has from time to time been call ed

to act as a juror in other departments of the Superior,

Court. I understand he made something of the same state­

ment to Ur Sloan. his nax:t-door neighbor. These are all

neighbors of his. I have sent sUbpoenaes out to prodnce

these witnesses with the exception ~ the brother-in-law,

who came to me this morning, of his own volition, to

infor.m me of the situation.
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1 further, that in view of the testimony that has come in --

2 it is wi thin th e possibili ti es, I do not say it is a fact,

3 because t here is but one person in th e universe who knows

4 mrether such is the fact or not -- it is within the possi­

5 bilities upon the presentation of the issues as they have

6 appeared in this case, particularly the. testimony of:' 1vfr

7 Steffens, that the prejudices which Juror Leavitt ex:pressed­

8 if the statements of these wi tneaaes are correct -- have

9 revived in him an idea that he ought, perchance not to sit;
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1

2

and it is within the possibilities that he has desired to bel

excused from jury duty upon the ground that his condition of

3 health was such that he ought not -to go on. At any rate, th

4 defendant feels that an investig~tion ought to occur. If

5 this verdict is to have the sanctity and approval by the

6 court and by that greater' jury still, the people, it must

7 be rendered by men who have no prejudices and no feeling and

8 no biasj if this defendant isto be convicted, his convic-

9 t ion is to car ry 'w i th it the cert i tude of exact jus t ice, tha

10 conviction must occur before men who are fair and without

11 bias and without prejudice.

12 This presents a unique consideration, one that

13 has arisen in my practice but once before, and it oxurs to

14 ne, sir, in view of the sitU:ltion :md condition of Juror

15 Leavitt's health and the statement of Doctor Beckett and

16 the statement of Dr. Saylan, that his malady, if ~uch there

17 there be, may return at any moment, and may again cause a

18 cessation of the trial, that it is quite v/ithin your Honor's

19 discret ion, it may seem a matter of discretion, to replace

20 Juror Leavitt with the thirteenth juror and occasion us no

21 further delay. The Code provides, if your Honor pleases,

that our only remedy was to await a verdi~t and take advan
tage of these matters after verdict, but the consideration

upon the disqualification of a juror for reason, that he may

ce replaced by another juror, even where the 13th juror has

The Code has taken that matter under

It has been sugGested

not been in attendance.

consider9.tion and has provided for -it.

22

23

24

25

26



5441

attention.

tion--

that and I do not.state it with a view of causing any fric-

1 may not be able to prove

1 desire to interrogate ON ith referencefr iend of his.

THE COURT. Let lJ.e inquire of you, ;,:r. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS. Yes, sir.

THE COURT. Rave any of these statements you have referred

to been made 8 inc e this tr ial began?

MR. ROGERS. None that 1 am able to prove, but 1 propose to

interrogate, if l'may be permitted, concerning the actions

and conduct of an employ of the District Attorney's office

who resides near Juror Lea-gitt and who is an intimate

of the auttor i ties has given :,11'. Appel the opinion, with WhiC,

1 concur, that we cannot present the matter after verdict,

that the matter of qualification must be presented before

verdict, and therefore, desiring to take advantage of this

situation, we feel it our duty to call it to your Honor's

to whether that pexson has in any wise interfe~·red. 1 may

not be able to prove it, but 1 have been informed that this

gentleman is a very intim~te friend of Juror Leavitt's, tha~

he has been in the employ of the District Attorney's office,

MR. FREDERICKS. Then, why should counsel state tbings like

of Jur or Leav itt's family.

not only generally at times from one occasion to another, bu

in this very case, and 1 have been inforrned--nhether truth­

fUlly or not--that this person has seen fit to see members
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pose he goes to see him.

cross-examine him.

as this man Hicks hae--

If you want to produce Robert Hicks, 1 will

1 suppose if be is a neighbor of this man, 1 sup-case.

that?

MR • ROGERS.

off ice, and we do not want a man' to try this case who has

been interrogated and who has been talked to and who has gon

MR. ROGERS. --we want a fair jury, if your Honor pleases,

MR. FREDERTCKS. Robert Hicke has been in the employ of the

District Attorney's office fer two hours once in his lifetim

in this case, that is true, and no other time, and he has

not been seen or ~alked to or had anything to do with this

lockwcod's--

MR • FREDF.R lCKS' What of i t--

and there is absolutely nothing against him.

MR • ROGERS. There n,ay be if 1 cross-examine him.

with some decency about the conduct of the Distr iet Attorney s

MR .. FREDERICKS. There may be, yes. TIrere may be against any
you

man on earth, but~have not any right to make that statement.

MR. ROGERS. 1 will make it absolutely, 1 have been inforn:eq.

that Robert Hicks--

MR • FREDER ICKS • Su;pose he has--

}.ffi • ROGERS. --who was in the employ of the Distr ict Attorne a
office went out there and hid in the hayloft out there at·

MR .. FREDERICKS.. VIe do not. Wan t to produce 'Rober tRicks,
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2

MR • ROGERS.

El Monte--

Robert Hicks has done a lot of talking

5443l
about I

3 THE COURT. Now, Gentl emen--

of the District Attorney's office engaged in this case-­

1 ask the I;ietr ict Attorney if he didn't knowi t, when he

1 want to ask Ccp tain Fredericks, if y:urMR • ROGERS.
I

Bonar will permit me: When juror Leavitt was qualified on I

this jury if he didn't know that Robert Hicks was an employel

4
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9 qualified Leavitt and didn't know Robert Hicks was a friend

10 of his?
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MR. FREDf,RICKS. 1 didn't knoVl where :.:r. l,eavitt lived, 1 I

didn 1 t know Mr. Leav itt befor e he came in, except through I

reports we all get, and 1 didn't know he knew Robert Hicks I
4 and 1 didn' t ~now Robert Hicks knew him, and 1 didn t t know

5 him except to know he was a man th:::.t 1 ived in El Monte ..

6 MR • ROGERS' 1 expect that the reports received, that were

7 received inthe Distr ic t At torney t s off ice, probably dis-

8 closed that Juror Leavitt lived at El Monte, and Hicks knew

9 him, and 1 have been informed that Hicks made some inquiries

10 about Leav itt beflDr ehahd •

11 MR. FHEDKR leKS • Hicks did not make any inquir ies for us

12 about Leavitt in any way, shape or form.

13 MR • ROGERS. He didn't make them for us •

14 THE COURT. Now, Mr. Rogers, we have a condition, if 1 may

15 use the term, and not a theory. The court, which includes

16 the District Attorney and the counsel for thEi defense, 1

17 am Bure, all WEll t a. fair tr ial to be had inth is case.

18 1m • ROGERS. Yes, sir.

19 THE COURT. 1 hope there is no one in the sound of my voice

20 or in tre corr.nlunity who wen ts :::.nything else, but courts

21 must act pursuant to the authority of law, and 1 feel, at

22 least, it is a very grave 1uestion whether there is any

23 aut hor i ty, any power ves ted in this court to act in tr.is

24 matter at this time. The juror has been interrogated here

25 in open court with in the last five 'minutes; says that he

26 is able to proceed; his doctors have verified that state
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matter of considerable concern to the court, and to the

the health of several members of this jury have been a

1 might say at this time, as a matter of fact, thatmenta

I

I

person. There are several men here who are from tinle to timb

suffering more or less from the unusual habit of life, and 1
1
1

1

feel it is very important that the best and wisestthing
now

that can be done should be done, but the sale question/is

1

2

3
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7

8 whether or not here in the midst of a trial, the trial ap­

9 proaching its close, we have a right to stop and try the

10 qualification of a juror. If you have authorities sup'-

11 porting that position 1 will hear you, but so far as the

12 evading the question by disqualifying the jury on account

13 of sickness 1 cannot conscientiously do that, consequently

14 1 cannot do it at all, without the doctors who have been in

15 attendance, advised by their certificate that such facts

16 exist, the juror himself is here and ready to proceed, 1

17 cannot evade the real issue in that way, so it br ings it

18 down to the question whether or not we have aright at this

19 time, Without legal authority, to stop and try the qualifica

20 tion of the juror, especially as it appears that those quali

21 fications or disqualifications existed prior to his being

22 called on the panel.

23 MR. ROGERS. In order to present the matter to your Honor

24 in leg3.l forrr" 1. offer to call Witnesses to prove that

25 directly after the McNamara sentence and jUdgment,. and 1

26 refer to the case of J.B. McNamara and J.J.McNClmara, that

I ~_ ____'!!U
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those who believed in labDr unions and socialism, and par­

ticularly against Job Harriman, one of the Witnesses in this

case. 1 think thatwill present the issue. And 1 offer

juror Leavitt said to Jeff Steele, who was then working

for him on his place,among other thing~"that ttey would

have hung Hayward and Moyer if that sc~p~ meaning the
I

defendant, "had not bought the jury. It 1 further offer to

to show by those statements made to those persons that the

statements made by Juror Leavitt upon his qualifications-­

upon his interrog3.tion to determine his qualifications, he

stated these things were not true, and that the information

had con,s to us since the impanelment of Juror L.eavitt upon

I

I

1 offer further to show that we did not knowthe jury.

that he made the same statement, in SUbstance, ( 1 cannot

gi ve the words) and effect, to Albert Kerns, a near neighbor

1 offer to proYe, 1 am not sure as to the words, but the

same SUbstance, that he made the same statement to his

neighbor Sloan. 1 cannot give you the first name. 1 fur­

ther offer to s·how by the brother-in-law of the juror

Leavitt that y~. Hill, that previous to the JUDor Leavitt

being irrpaneled on this jury he had frequently expressed

bitter hostility towards labor unions and socialism, and
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1 these matters and things at the time the juror was im-

2 paneled and sworn, and that if we had known them we would

3 have challenged him either for cause or preemptorily.

4 THE COURT. Just a moment, .,:r Ford. 1 still feel, gentle-

5 men, that the question is unanswered as to the legm au-

6 thor i tyto go ahead and do these things.
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that notw i thstanding that the juror h8:s been sworn to try

1 MR APPEL:

2

We contend, your Honor, under the authorities,

juror has committed perjury, in answering the questions,

qualified in his own mind, and according to his own con-

science, when he should have known thet he was disquali­

fied, that when 1:'_e has pro..cticed a fraui--l dontt mean

the case, that if during the trial of the case it appears

from facts and to the satisfaction of the court, that a

1 don ' t mean maliciously--l mean a fraud in

law, wbat would MJOunt in law to a fraud on the court and

the attorneys on either side, whether he be a juror that

either for one side or the other, th:it if a juror has shown

a desire to get upon the jury when he felt that he was dis-

voluntarily j

3
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14 'h~d prejudice against the prosecution or
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1 whether he be a juror that had prejudice llgainst the de­

2 fens e, it mak es no difterenc e on which si de, if he has

3 gone upon the jury box and qualified -- swore that he was

4 qUalified that he had no bias or prejudice or interest,

5 that he had no feeling Egainst either side, that when the

6 court has discovered that those facts were untnle, that

7 th ere is such a wrong connnitted cgainat justice; such a

8 wrong committed -- suppose the jUIjiJr was against the

9 prosecution, I say that it \yould be so ebsolutely unnat­

10 ural and unjust for th e prosecution that the court has a

11 right to perge the jury of that sore, of that stain, that

12 the COUJ't has Eo right in its discretion to say that the
I,
f 13 juror was disqualified from the beginning, that he should

It is too late, and itand the court haa taken action •.

would be too late, we knowing these things to exist, and

we have reason to believe that they do exist, it would be

too late for us to complain after a verdict wes rendered.

should be put in his place.

NoVl, in a great many cases, even where a juror has al­

ready been S\'1orn, either side may be allowed to bring the

cpestion of the qualification cfthe jury before the court

be set aside, that he should -- that the thirteenth

juror examined here, a.l1d \nO has heard the eiidBnce, he

24 We could not complain; the other side could not complain,

25 but now is the tim~ and the place~ and we offer to show

26 LthBse things for the purpose of showing t hat the juror i
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There ian' t any sec ti. on 0 f th e code,

any law -- the code. says your Honor has the absolute con-

It is our duty here to make an offer to pe~e this jury

of one whom we honestly believe to have been disqualified

disqualified. I don,t say, your Honor, in justice to this

juror, that your Honor .,,1111 come to that conclusion absolute

ly from the evidence. I don't wish to anticipate your

Honor's opinion about the matter, and I don't ,nsh to con­

demn the juror and do an injustice in advance, but at Ie ast

we, believing in good faith ,we can show these things, that

i:l we Sh0\7, because it \nll be a disqualific ation in 1 eo.,.
WJe of'fer to shoW' it at this ti.me. We must make an offer.

from th e beginning -- mlVbe we may fail. It may be that

this juror is absolutely innocent of anything of this kind,

but if he is innocent, if he is innocent of any imputa­

tion or prejUdice against thisdefenfient, \~, it will be

so much to his credit; it 'Nill be so much credit to the

verdict that may be rendered here;. Yv'e will hare confi­

dence in the integrity of the whole jury, but your Honor,

it is, I say, the highest duty of the court to investi­

gate this matter. Now, I say the court has a right all

along through the trial up to the time that a verdict is

rendered, has a right to control my action or any step

in the trial that will produ~e and promote justice. Your

Honor has entire control over that matter. There isn't

25

l
trol of th e trial.

26 .
th ere i sn't a'1Y lUl e of l.ew that limits your pOlVer in the
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things after a verdict -- I canc'ite; authority after

posing a juror went upon the witness stand and sad that

lie didn't knO\V the defendant; that there was no relation

We cannot complain of these

Now, could it be said, your Honwr, that sup

tion of exact jnstice"

authority.

nor blood relationship or kinship be ::tween th e juror and

thedefendant; that his name was not Darrow; that he had

nothing to do with the family of 1,fr Darrow. Suppose he

went upon th e stand and swore that his name was John Jones;

that he didnt t know anything about the case, and suppose

that he heard evidence here in this case fran the b"egin~

ning to the enl'l,and it should be discovered that he was

th e brother 0 f the defendant. Now, under the code a party

who stands in the relation of broth~ or father or any

kinship is disqualified by law. He has 80 right to sit

th ere upon tba t jury. Suppose the District Attorney f01.1Ill

that out. Do you say t hat the hands of the court are

so tied up by the absence of any direction in th e code

that the District Attorney shonld not have th e right to

say, ttl h8\Te discovered t.hi.s fact, and it is a fraud upon

the Feople; we want this jury perged, because the jury is

consti tuted through th e fraud of this m an, through the

regard. On the contrary, th. e c ode gives you a very wide·

.discretion; it gives you the right to exercise your jUdg­

ment in the vddest manner, provided it is a discretion,

and it is an. action of th e court 1 eading ~p to th e promo-
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1 misrepresentation of this man in such a manner tbat ex­

2 act justice cannot be done to the People. It

3
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defendant, your Honor, could not claim that by allowing

people here? You have a right to discharge that juror.

control of this case, to say, ivlr. Juror, is this a fact?

The I
I

I
i

would.. take advantage

1 say it would not attach.

Would your Honor allow him to sit

Wouldn 1 tit be a wrong? Wouldn't it be contrarythere?

his own brother to go upon that jury;

Your Honor would not have the right, having the absolute

is there any rule; where is there any authority of law

th~t would prevent your Honor to say you shall purge this

jur¥' from the imposition upon i tand uponthe court and

upon the people and upon the attorneys representing the

to all rules of decency. and justice to allow that juror to

sit there and prevent a verdict to be rendered in accordancei
I
I

ant expects to be charged With a serious crin:e goes in

wi th the facts, and in accordance with the law a~ainst the

defendant, if he did agree to such a verdict, would your

Honor sit idly by and the District Attorney sit idly by

and allow a case to be tried under those conditions? Where

of his own wrong and have that juror discharged. He

couldn't· come in to cour t and say, "1 have brougl' t about thes

conditions and made it possible for the court to dis-

charge the juror and 1 claim jeopardy." A def endant, fol­

lowing that rule of law, if 1 may call y-ur Honor's atten­

tion to the principle, is just the same that when a defend-

a Justice's court and pleads guilty to a nJisdemeanor, a

Mr. Juror says Yes.

'Nould jeopardy at,tach?
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

demeanor included in the greater charge, and gets fined

there purposely, voluntarily, cannot afterwards come into

court and plead once in jeopardy or fomer conviction or a

former acquittal to the information against him for the

gre'1ter cr,ime because of his fraud.·

Would not the District Attorney, under those

conditions, have a right to say, to call your Honor's

attention to the fact that a juror has gone into tha t jury

box who ought not to be there, and 1 say your Ronor has

control of this case, and here is the time, here is the op­

portunity, a~:. opportunity for a fearless jUdge to act in

accordance with the best principles of justice.

provisions are made from time to time as cases may arise,

but what legislature would ever think that there would be

try to get upon a jury to convict his fellowIn.in. Our Code

cor.dition of that feeling, the existence of his prejudice,

I
II .
I
!

The dec is ionsYou say there is no precedent.

this kind would ever arise in any civilized conmunity?

Who would anticipate that a Christian gentleman, who wouad

anticipate that an honorable citizen would go upon a jury

having a feeling against a humanbeing,and disclaim the
/

point that way and who would ever anticipate, y:~ur Honor,

who in the world would eV8r anticipate that conditions of

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21
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23

24 such a man in the world? 1 do not say this about Mr. IJeav itt,

25

26

. .
1 have no right to say this, but 1 am supposing that in case

..

there should be any such thing as that--but our Code.;s· ays
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1 that the court may adopt any mode of procedure at take any

2 action, wherever there is no provision in this code point-

3 ing out the specific mode of procedure--the court may adopt

8 not know, of course--courts must, as 1 know, have respect

Why, your Honor, 1 doexpress provisions, is deficient.7

4 any mode of procedure which may tend to promote justice,

5 and ttat code is there, and that provision of the code is

6 made for the purpose of supplying that in which the code,

9 for the strict rules of law and strict procedure, that is .1

10 very tr ue ; they do have, bu t technical law, s tr ict proce-

dure, has no place in any court when an exceptional case

comes up, when the possibility of an injustice being done

to one side or the other comes up, through no faul t of t te"
I

court, through no fault of counsel on either side, and then I

that sound jUdgment, that sound discretion must be exercise~

in the inter es t of jus t ice. If we ar e true in our cont en- I

t ion here--and 1 am not assert ing, so far as my own personal

knowledge goes that we are right--l am only showing what the

conditioncl are or what conditions may possibly exist--but

if '!Ve are right, your Honor, what is the use of trying this

11
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15
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20

21 case? If the District Attorney thinks, or your Honor

22 thinks, that we cm take advantage of this position after

23 verdict and that a verdict agai~st us would be a nullity,

then that in y·:)ur w is e d iscr et ion again--for the Code says

in granting a new trial to the defendant the court may do

24
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26 it out of his discretion, and a great many natters
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appeals

to
A man is convicted on woidence which

A
the court

bringing about a verdict vmich would be a shame to our

jurisprutlence. That however that verdict may be, for

the peopl e or for the defendant, there ought to be a fin-­

ality to a case of this kind; the People are interested

in seeing that we only have a final trial, that there

should be no abortive verdic there that may entail the

trial af this case anew. That is, that kind of a trial,

a trial of that kind is what brings disrespect from the

pUblic to the courts, and I say, your Honor, both sides

Ought to join here, and if this juror should be discharged

and we agree that the thirteenth juror go upon

because that we do not delay -- no advantage would be

is not convincing, md in his discretion, in the ex:ercise

of his discretion, he will grant him a new trial, and the

Supreme Court. vdll not in any instance, interfere with

that ltgal discretion. Hardly dler they do that. But,

. where a state of f acts such as \va claim ex:ist in this case,

is presented to the court before verdict, I say, there is

no !'Ul e of law' that prevents the court from finding some

vay of put ting a jury th ere egainst whom no imputetion can

be made, against whom no reflection can be justifiably

made, and we vvant to feel, your Honor, that when we get

through with this case, that the case that has taken so

much, that it will not be said that anyone on either side

of this case, including the court, had anything to do with
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1 gained by either side, certainly.

.5458 I
I do not knovv, if

2 I were District Attorney, and a manwent into that jury

3 box who entertain ed. the hostility towards the defendant,

4 I would not want him. in there, th e highest duty of a Dis­

5 trict Attorney, your Honor, is to Jresent the facts and

6 in presenting his views, Vigorously end honorably and

7 honestly, to aid the court in bringing about a proper ver-

torney, the same solicitous consideration as a conviction

of the guilty; if the District Attorney should be more

anxious to win a victory in th e lihrer court than to accord

Appellate, the A~pellate Court says this, speaking of a

matter of this kind, it is a trite saying, and its repe­

titionseems not uncalled for,l/that a fair trial for a de­

fendant should invite and receive from th e District At-

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

dict. In people against / 11 California

the defendant the rights he is entitled to under the

constitution, he must not be surprised if his success comes

to naught in the higher· forum~ and cites a great many

I think such a spirit as that, such a feel-

ing as ex:pressed here, such an idea as that must natur­

al4r prompt counsel on th e oth er side in joining us in

allowing your Honor , without obj ~tion, to ecercise the

discretion which the law ha& decided in a matter of this

kind, which is a unique, I must say, situation, and which

I say J is not c ont rary to the spiri t of th e code, now eoc­

pressly provided in the code, ~or such a condition as

ofhEki1 cases.
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1 this, as could not possibly be anticipated. I sUbmit
I

As to the IaN

To us, yr Leavitt is simply one of thirteenso 'appear.

new thing, is a n~v situation. The law remains as it

always was, that a man must be tried by twelve men and

trary, and I think that if the matter were submitted it woul'

on this matter, we had occasion at this time to look it up,

and we had occasion on a previous occas~on, to look it

up, when we were very vitally interested, as we thought at

the time, in getting a juror off under similar circum­

stances, and vre found that the"lav did not privide for

such a contingenoy and we are satisfied that it does not,

and '.\'e feel oonns el must be sati sfi ed also J as he has

cited no lsw and no authorities. A thirteenth man is a

jurors, nothing more and nothing less.

2 the matter, your Honor.

3 UR FREDERICKS: If the court desi res to hear any authori-

4 1 ties from onr. side on the matter, lfr Ford will present them

I wish to oosure counsel that the District Attorney's of­

fice, while we may at times get a little heated in our per-

sonal controversies, th~ are personal sparks, and noth­

ing more, and the District Attorney's office desires only

a fair trial and a fair verdict, and I very much regret that

I beli eve the law to be such that 1fr Leavitt cannot

that this action cannot be tried, because I am just as

thoroughly convinced that )l.fr Leavitt is an ordinarily

fair juror as counsel on the other side may be to the con-
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they are the first 12 and the 13th man is no more a part

of that jury, for the purpose of bringing in a verdict,

than any spectator in the court room, ur~ess the contin­

gencies arise. as specified ip the code, and it is those

contingencies, which alone give him his power and autbority.

They have not arisen in this case and, therefore, the au­

thority has not been given him. If this could be , as

counsel argue for here, it would place an absolute bar

against the conviction of any man for a crime. With due

respect to Mr. Appel's argument that this defendant would

not be in jeopardy, 1 think he has not ·cited a parallel

case: This defendant is now in jeopardy and if we were to

open the case now and go into this question and attelJ,pt to

get the juror off and get him off, this trial would have

to stop. This trial would be a mistrial, we could never

try this case again, because this defendant would be in

jeopardy i it would not be analogous to the case which Mr.

Appel has cited wherein the defendant, by his own fraudulent

a.ct and by his own fraudulent knowledge had gotten his

brother on the jury, or wherein by his own fraudulent

act he h~d plead guilty to a lesser offense, where he was

he was really guilty of a greater one, because that is not

analogous to this case at all. Butl whether or not he has

cited the law correctly there is not a matte::r we need to

argue. 1 am inclined to think, and 1 know in one instance,

because 1 looked it up, and 1 rather tpink this position
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1 would be n,aintained to a certain extentinthe other, but that

2 is not this position here. As 1 said, 1 am sorry that

3 we cannot go into this matter of :'lr. Leavitt f S qualification,

4 but if we could go into them then a defendant could get a rna

5 on the jury who could pass, a man on the jury, mark you, by

6 slight examination, for instance, whom he knew tad made

7 statements previous, and 8et him on the jury, let the trial

8 get started, the jury con,pleted and let the tr ial get

9 started, then br ing in the point tha t the man made these

10 previous misstatements, that a mistrial would result, and th

11 defendant would go free. Now, feeling entirely satisfied

12 that this juror, although 1 do not wish to be considered as

13 defending him or apologizing for himr-he is simply one of

14 13 men, he is no more to me than any other one of the 13 me~

15 but being satisfied as good a jury has been selected as we

16 could possibly hope to select, and that l,ir. Leavitt is a

17 fair average juror and a conscientious man, and is g~ing to

18 bring in a verdict for the defense, if he believes, or if

19 he doubts the defendant's gUilt,and is going to bring in a

20 verdict tor the prosecution if he believes the defendant is

21 gUilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and having that belief, we

22 would be very much opposed to going on wi th any such dis-

23 cussion as might be brought up here. However, as the law

\lr. Ford VI iJ 1 give the

24 is as it is, there is no need of us, unless the court Wishes

25 us, to cite the law that has been cited in nurr.erous cases,
..

26 one particularly right in point.
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That is 1089 of the Penal Code?

Yes, your Honor.

1 think yeu s aid Code of Civil Procedure.

1 probably did but 1 should have said Penal r~de.MR. FORD ,-

court the authorities, if the court wishes for it.

THE COURT, Let me have the panal code.

MR. APPEL, 1 W8S goir.g to say, your Honor, we do not

wish to be foreclosed from showing authorities right

square in point on this matter, as 1 think there are. 1 am

almos t cer tair. we can find them.

MR. FREDER lCKS' 1fl e have not been abl e to find them.

JR. FORD. Section 1089 of the Code of Civil Procedure, whim

is the only law in this state providing for the dismissal of

one juror inthe couse of trial and the substitution of an

alternate juror is confined to the cases that are enumer­

ated.

THE COURT.

1ftR • FORD'

THE COURT·

In that case the a1ternature juror can act only in case one

of the regular juror dies--

THE COURT. 1 have it right before rre and 1 will read it so

we will all get it, The last clause of the Section,

1089 of the Penal Code, reads, after providing for an alter­

nate juror: "If, before the final subrdssion of the case a

juror dies or becomes ill so as to be unable to perform his

duty, the court may order him to be discharged and draw the

nan,e of an alternate who shall then take his place

jury box and be SUbject to the Sall,e rules and regulation
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1 though he had been selected as one of the or iginal j urars • "

2 1 presume the term "draw the name of an al ternate" con-

3 t emplates wher e tV'iO al ternates ar e selected in the firs t

4 place?

I
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1

1,[R FORD: yeS, your Honor. Now, the question presented

2 here, is not that case, your Honor. Your Honor has already

3 stated the JUIY here has returned and is ready to go on

4 I with the trial, and to dismiss him for any ground other

5 than the grounds enumerated in section 1089 would be to per­

6 mit this defendant to be tri ed by some person other than

7 the original juror selected to try him, v'/hich, without

8 argument, will appear upon its face, to be no trial at all

9 A juror can onlY' be removed upon a challenge, either for

10 cause or for a lack of qualifications as specified in the

code. In this case, if this juror is removed, he must be

removed by challenge, and the lew specifically provides

the time when that challenge must be interposed, it must

be in terposed before a jury Is sworn, under th e provision

of 1068 ,eK:C ept that the court may, . ifgood cause appears,

during the examination of the jury, may, before the jury

is completed, permit, even after a juror is sworn, per-

mi t the examination of a juror to be reopened, md if

the court sees fit, may allow the juror to be removed,

even after he has been sworn, but that case is confined

expressly to a case where the jury has not yet been com­

pleted. I call your Honor's attention to the case of Peo­

pleversus Sanford in the 43rd Cal., page 31, People versus

Coffman, 2~ Cal.,. pag e 234, peopl e versus, Evans, 124

Cal.~ 210; People versusStonsoffer, 6 Cal., 409, and in

all of those cases, discussing the obj ~tions to the camp
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1

tency of jurors, the court held that the laY provided a

time when the challenge upon those grounds must be taken,
-

and that it must be takBn at that time and cannot be taken

4 I at any other time, even if the facts were unknown to th e de

5 fendant until after the trial had ended. One of the

6

7

grounds enumerated in the statute upon which a defendant

may obj ect to the competency of a juror is that he is an
, .

8 ali en. The 1 aw provides that he must be a citizen of the

9

10

11

12

13

14

Uni ted Stat es. In Peopl e versus Chung Li t, in the 1 '7th

Cal., pEge 320, it developed in that case thedefendant

had been convicted of murder, and one of the jurors who sat

upon th e panel 'NaS an ali en. They made a motion for a

n fNl trial, and subsequently -- althongh the motion was

based upon afi'idavi ts by the juror t.hat he was an alien,

15 I and he was not aNare that this disqualified him. and' that

16 I he did not communicate the fact to the defendant until af-

ter the verdict. and also upon affidavit by defendant's

attorney that he did not know the juror did not know he

was an alien until after theverdict, the court held in

that case that the law provided a time whEb the challenge

should be int erpo sed, and wen trough th e defendant and his

attorney did not know, were not aware of the incompetency

of the juror, still that fact could not be pennitted to

disturb the verdic.t, and there was a good reason for it,

andpefore discussing the reason, your Honor, I want to

call your Honor's attention to th e case almost rot:actly i
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line \vith the cese at bar, People versus Fair, 43 Cal.,

beginning at page 145. In that case the defendant, a wom~n,

had been found guilty, and th e defendant 1 EQJ%I1ed, after

the verdict, "that one of the trial jurors had expressed

hims elf as l.mfavorable to th e defendant j extremely and"

unqualifiedly prejudiced ~ainst the defendant.

(Reading:) In impaneling the trial jury, Henry U.

Beach; being 6lCamined as to his qualifications to serve

as a juror, stated in substanc e, he had read in the n avs­

papers an account of the homicide, that he had not expressed

any opinion about it, he had heard but little said upon

the subj ect; t hat he had neither formed nor expressed an

unqualified apinion as to the guilt or innocenc e of the

prisoner; that his mind was entirely unimpressed upon

that point, and that he could give the prisoner a fair

trial and he'JIaS thereupon accepted and sworn m a juror.

A verdict of guilty having been rendered by the jury,

the prisoner moved for a n ell trial upon many grounds,
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considered it a ~ilful murder, and that if he should be upon

the jury he would consider that the offense of the prisoner

was nmrder in the first degree and would hang her. Counter­

affidavi ts wer e also produced and read, going to show that

the statements contained in the affidavits, upon behalf of

the prisoner, were incorrect and untrue. Tte"alleged dis­

~ualification of Beach to serve as a juror is relied upon

herei and it is claimed that in view of the affidavits in

the record the cOlrrt below should have set aside the verdict

on that ground. We think, however, that in this respect the

motion was properly overruled. The right of the prisoner

tonnve for a new trial in a criminal case is given by

Section 440 of the Criminal Practice Act, and the grounds

upon which such a ~ion are to be made are therein pre­

scribed and enumerated. lI And Section 1181 of the Penal

Code is practically a reduplication of Section 440 of the

Criminal Practice Act as it existed in 1872, prior to the

adoption of the code. liThe statute declares that such a

mo:tion \1I[hen IT'ade, must be made based upon one or reore of the

following grounds in that section mentioned--'in the follow­

ing cases only' lis the expression--and it clearly excludes

all other grounds Whatsoever."

T"' is mert3 r~ference to the term exclus ion employed by

the statute would be sufficient to. dispose of that point,

but in People versus Plumrrer, 9th California, 298, it

held by this court, under this statute, "An objection to
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1 corrlpetency of a juror, may be made by thepr isoner for

2 the first tir(,e after the verdict is rendered, and may be

3 relied upon as a ground upon a motion for a new trial.
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1 In People versus Plurmner, 9th Califo mia, is th e ally de­

2 cision in this state that even qquints at the position

3 taken by the defendant in this case, and the case of

4 People versus Plummer, was sUbse-quently overruled in this

5 case "of people versus -7air. (Reading:) "We have care-

6

7

8

fully examined the elaborate and able opinion rendered

in that case, end 'lYe find in it nothing Whatever as to the

constru ction or interpretation of section 440 in the par-

9 ticular already referred to. It is undoubtedly true, as

10 there remarked by the court, that every citizen has a

11 I right t to demand that all 0'£ fenses charged egainst him

12 I shall be submitted to a tribunal composed of honest and un-

prejudiced men, who W}ll do equal and exact justice

between the government and the accused, and, in or der to

do this, weigh impartially every fact disclosed by the
-

The right of trial by jury is unquestiona blyevidenc e. t

a sacred right, and one secured by the guarantees 0'£ the

consti tution; and t his is much, if not all, (f w'hat is said

in the. opinion delivered here in th e case of Plummer.

But when this p roposi tion of const! tutional law is c on­

celled, we have advanced but a littlevvay to'\vard the point

of practice involved here, end in the.Plurmner case as well.

The jurors shou~d undoubtedl;r be indifferent, omni maj ores

excetione. But they may not, in fact, be so;" the jury

should be unbiased and unprejudiced; the la'\v contemplate

they should be, but they may not be infact. (Reading:)
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"and if not, the question is, at what time in the pro­

gr~ss of the case, and through 'mat method, of procedure,

may the prisoner be heard to allege that fact? Undoubt­

edly, if the. case be known to him and he makes it appear

bei'ore the juror is swom,.he may interpose a challenge

i'or cause. But if the prisoner do not know the fact o-r

disqualification, or knowing it, is still unable to es­

tablish it before the juror is sworn, what steps may he

subsequently take to avail himself of the objectiom? May

he make it a ground of a motion in arrest of jUdgment,

under section 442? Certainly not -- no one ~tends that

he could, because the statute itself has undertaken to

enumerate the .grounds upon whic h the jUdgment may be ar­

rested and the incompetency of a juror not being one of

these, the intention to exclude that and all other non­

enumerated ~rounds must be apparent. But in reference to

a motion for a new trial, th estatut e has not only enum­

erated the grounds upon l1hich it may be made, but has ex­

pressly excluded all others. A single decision of this

court, in which the prOVisions of the statute upon the SUb-

j ~t, though cited in argument, appear to hwe been wholly

overlooked, cannot prev8il~ainst the words of the sta­

tute unmistakably expressing the lEgislative in tent.

The case of the people vs. Plummer, iasofar as it holds

th at an o'qj ec tion to the comp etency of a juror, taken for

the first time after verdict rendered, may· be availed 0
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1 on motion for a new trial, is therefore overruled. ft

2 Counsel has cit ed the case of the defendant procuring

3 his ovm brother to 8i t on th e jury, and all Eges that in a

4 case 0 I' that sort, the fraud upon th e court w(u1d be set

5 aside tmd t hat the defendant could again be tried for the

6 offense. r differ with him entirely. The law does not pro

7 vide that that remedy may be taken. Thedefendant, even

8 though his ovm. brother has sat upon the jury, can a~ai1 him

9 I self of the verdict of that jury, and the verdict cannot be

10 set aside, because it is the duty of the People to objoot

11
1

to the competency of that brother when he sat upon the julY,

12 and they could only remove him upon challenge, and they

13 would have to introduce the challenge at the time prescrib-.

In thatI will read to the court, b eginnil1..g at pege 215.

people vs. Boren, beginning ~.t p~e 210, the portion which

case, N1 uncle by marriage of the District Attorney

was a member of the trial jury. The defendant YVas con­

victed of having wilfully and feloniously broken and in­

jured a public jail, and also with having suffered a prior

convictiom of the crime of robbery, and an uncle ~ the

District Attorney -- uncle by marriage, sa.t upon the jury.

They made a motion for aneW' trial, fJld subsequently appa1-

14 e d by law. A case upon the other side, in vo1mne 139,

24 ed, and one of the grounds upon -- (Reading:) ft.Another

25 ground upon \Vhich'it is contended 'a new trial

261 beengranted is, that an uncle by marriage of

!

15
1
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16 I
I

17 I
I
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1 At tomey , was, a member of the trial jury; that this fact

2 \vas unJmovm to the d ef En dant or his c oun sel until Bet e~

3 the trial; that defendant's peremptory challenges.hed not

4 been eY~austed; and that if these facts he d have been

5 knoVID, defendant would have challenged him p3 remptorily.

6 These facts appear by affidavits, but constitute no

7 grounds for a new trial. Sectiontl181 of the Penal COde

8 specifies the only grounds upon \\hich a ne.v trial may be

9 granted, md this obj ootion is not included in th e grounds

10 there stated. tt

11 O~ course, your Honor, the situation here before the

12 court at the present time is that obj action h,as been taken

13 before the verdic t is rendered. That defendants are citing

14 that this ground would not be on e of the grounds upon

15 which a new trial could be obtained, but are asking your

16 Honor to legislate upon this subject and permit them at

17 this time to make the obj action to th e comptency of the

18 juror to interpose a challenge and to remove him, and,!

19 am reading these cases merely for the purpose of showing

20 your Honor t bat in eac hone 0 f them the court constant-

21 ly refers to th e fact that the objection to the juror must

22 be taken b efo re the jury is sworn, as:i s the law, end be-:

"

"An obj action to a juror must be ,taken before the juror

This sectl:on winds uP,

after deciding ll1.at the objection raised by thedefEndant

is not one of the grounds for an'av trial. (Reading:)

fore the jury is completed.23

24

25

261



4''I Now, your Hono r, all e of th e fundanental rules of sta-
sion

5 tutory interpretation is that the ~xp:cesl.. of one thin~:('

sworn to try the cause; but the court may-, for cause, permtt

it to' betaken after the juror is 'SWorn and before th e

..

It is possibleof each one of the 12 men on that jury.

for ingenious counsel in this case to raise the point for

the first time, that the challenge to the juror may be

int erposed before the conclusion of th e ca se and after

evidenc e has been heard, and that ..: / cannot be true.

Now, I think, if th e court please, that this provision of

law is a wis £-:8 one; it is a vdse one to prevent a challenge

to the juror being iJterposed after th e ju ry is compl eted1"

The law guards Vii th zealous care, th e right of this defend-
tte vote of

zmt. He cannot be convict~d upon"aYlY one of twelve men

sitting in that box. The law permits end provides an op­

portuni ty to t he defendant to ecsmine into qualific etions

jury is completed. I (Penal Code Section 1068.)

means the EOCclusion of all other things. Section 1068 has

~ressly provided that the juror must be chall eng ad be­

fore he is sworn, but renders only one exception to that,

and that is that the court may- in its discretion, for cause,

permit challenge to be interposed after he is sworn, but

before the jury is completed, md that interposition ofa

challenge to the jlllror be required by law to be before the

jll'lry is completed, is so clear,· so definite that I suppose

in the whole of the United States that it has been left
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lowing to the weakness of human intelligence or the weakness

2 of the means by vmic h they can gather information, as to

3 each individual qualification of each juror, Once in a

4 I great whil e ~ome juror may remain on that jury mo do es

5 not possessi'.the fair mind ,end lack of prejudice which the

6 law requires, but the I fNl guards him again st the act of

7 that one man. That one man cannot convict him. It requires

8 th e unanimous verdict of each man on that jury t and wen

9 though th e man should get t here in d efianc e of the law,

10 mat the law has provided, still the rights of the de-

II fend;;;nt will not suffer. The penalty for the violation on

12 I

13

14

15 I

161
I

17

18

19

the part of the jUI'5Jr 0 f the duty which he owes to the

state and the duty which he owes to the defendant, is on e

which must be taken up between the cou rt and the juror.

It cannot be permitted to internlpt the trial of the case,

and there is reason· and strong SUbstantial reason for it.

I think that the legislature and the eocperience of jUdges

in the )lears pest, has undoubtedly led them to the conclu­

sion that the trial of a case should not be interrupted

20 by such issues. That the verdict of the juror should not

21

22

23

24

25

26 ,

be altered in any method by an attempt to terrify or

intimidate or attack the integrity of the man upon the

jury by going to his family and present charges against

the member of that family who happens to be upon th e jury,
that

thereby seeking to intimidate the juror, and;\' can /

be so readily done, that the lav has wisely provided that



1 it should not

. 54:sl
be allowed; that the integrity of the j~ror

2 should not be attacked after the juxy has been compl eted.

3 Your Honor Cml see how readily 8 juror might be influenc ed

4 I by an attack upon his integrity; how members of his fam­

5 ily might be scared and terrified so they would desire
doing

6 him to stay off th e jury and prevent him froml\the duty which

7 he owed to the Peo"le and to the defendant as well.

8 If after the jury has ~een sworn, the juxy has been com­

9 plated, counsel for thedefemtent is allowed to visit the

10 home and t he neighborhood of one of the jurors to dig into

11 ut terenc es which may have been so loosely made that they

12 were absolutely forgotten by the juror, if they are 811011'1­

13 ad to go out and convey to the members of the family, by

14 inquiries or by direct assertions to the mern.bers of the

15 family, tmt the juror lied; that he committed perjuxy;

16 that he has no business to remain on th at jury; if they are

17 allowed to .go and to be permitted to attack a juror at

18 this time, and that information comes to the juror or comes

19 to the family of the juror, it may be the means of scar-

20

21

22

23

24

25

26/

I

~

ing him, of intimidating him, or preventirg him from

rendering a fair and impartial verdict in the case, to

which the people in this case are entitled, md I don,t

believe, your Honor, that this matter -- that should be

allowed -- should be tolerated in any court, that a juror

might be asked in a method not provided for by law, I

don't believe , your Honor, if th e complaint is made in
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1 goo d faith, e.nd if they are convinced of the lew on their

2 side, I don,t beliere that they ought to come into court

3 and make charges of this character without submitting

4 I some authorities which shows your Honor that your Honor

5'

6

7

8

9

10

11

12
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has authority to make it, and ch arges have been made here

reflecting upon people tmt have absolutely no connection

at the present time wi th the offic es of the District At­

torney, and never did have any connection, ex:cept upon the

case of the arrest of on e Franklin long before the inc ep­

tion of th e Darrow case, of a man who has not been consult­

ed sine e the investigation of th e Darrow case began, and

has had nothing to do with it and whatever may be true of

that man, "moever he is or \matever he is, I don,t know

that I know h:tm personally, I don,t remember having met

him, but perhaps I have, but whatever he has done, the

District Attorney should not be charged with what he has

done whether it is good or whether it is bad, ~nd as long

as those charges have been made, your Honor, I think we

have equally the right to show that thi s can have only on e

obj 00 t, and that is· the purpo se of intimidating and in ter­

fering with the d~e admonistration of justic e in this par-

ticular case.

Your Honor, these defendants ha-p. the same rights to

investigate this juror before the trial began t mtt hey

have now. They did have investigators out and they had

the right to make thorough investigation at that time as
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they saw fit to make. Certainly t they cannot be pennitted I
to excuse a juror here; if they were not satisfied with the

juror, in their minds, th at th EU can afterwards go out any

time they feel a juror is against them, any time they sus­

pect that a juror is not being impressed with the story

th at they are giving thEJl1 -- wi th the M. denc e that th €U

are presenting to them, any time they feel that, that

then it ...vill be a good time to take up some other juror

9 and ask the court to discharge them. The law does not

10 contemplate it to be rone, and I am sure your Hono r will

11 not allow it in this con rt.

121m .APPEL: Just a moment as to the law; },{r Rogers will

13 answer as to the fects. Counsel promised you he would site

-14 authori ties showing that suc h a proc eeding we are contend-

15 i ing for here has been ~ressly overruled by the Supreme

16 Court.

17 Now, your Honor J :.:"i1'1 notic e that in everyone of those

18 decisions it is not applicable to this case at all. We

19 are all very familiar with those cases. He cited the case

20 of people against Fair. I think I read of that law when I

21

22

23

was about 14 years of 19 e -- tried by the man un der whom I 'I

studied law, JUdge Aleocander Campbell. In all those cases,

your Honor, the complaint made by the defendant is always

24 after trial. After trial. Everyone of those cases after

25 vel'dict. There isn't a single one of those cases

2G the defendant didn't come up and fil e affidavi ts
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1 the verdictw8s rendered cgainst him. He came over and he

2 had to file affidavits showing that he didn't know these

3 facts before verdict. See? .He, himself, comes into court

4 and says, "I.didn't :know that this man V-.6S prejudiced or

5 had ecpressed his opinion. I didn't know that this man

6 on th e jury was a brother-in-Inw of the District Attorney

7 until after the trial; tt he has stated that. "Until after

8 trial". "Until after the verdict. tt And now, here is

9 a different case, your Honor. Here .we say to your Honor illll

10 our· statement, and we are willing to substantiate it, that

11 since this juror now, this is a. case standing by itself.

12 These cases have no application. I stated t hat the I aT(

13 was we could not raise .that question after trial, your

14 Honor. Nor, could we raise it after trial~ especial~

15 when we come into court and tell your Honor thatduring the

16 trial .'\'Ie found it out; \\e would be estopped fram. doing

17 that. We cannot sit here and see this defendant

18 tried by a juror, assuming we are right about it --

19 I am not charging the juror with anything; your Honor

20 will see. Assuming that we were right on the evidence

21 and we ask your Honor to hear it, we cannot sit here idly

25 cide in our favor during the trial up to the time of ver­

26 dict, and if he decided against us, we cannot be heard t

by, after learning during the trial that the juror was
the

disqualified from beginning, and afterwards come t a your
"

Honor -- and take chances of getting him to favorably de-

22

23

24
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come in here and say to your Honor,' lt'We have found out

this juror Vias prejudiced against us, and we ask for a nen

trial. It It would not be fair to the court. That would

b eatrick on the p art of the defendant, and we don't

propose to simulate here a great solicitude for exact jus­

tice and allow a juror to remain in the jury box that is

going to decide in ourfavor. We leave that to the other

side. - Everyone of tho se cases, your Honor, the defendant

came in and said, ttl didn't know anything about this until

after verdict. 1t So, with one single statement of that

kind, we brush aside all thedecisions of ingenious counsel.

They don't appl~r to this case, and I say I cha lIang e c ann sel

to show here a single decision 0 r a decision of any court

that has ever said that when, in a trial of this kind, or

even in a civil suit, that th e c ~rt would be justified in

tolerating a put-up job on the court; a put-up job on eithe

party. It is so frought with fraUd, your Honor, that no

court ought to tolerate it, provided, as I say, we are

right. The rnl E5 of law, the provisions of our code, are

not to promote an injustice. This section 1068 says that

a chell eng e may be int erPQ sed to a j uro r even aft er he is

sworn and before the jury is compl eted, applies in all

thoss cases in which the parties are in a qondition, fran

knovrledge of the circumstances, to either exercise their

challenge or not to exercise it, but it doesn't foreclos

the defendant from calling your Honor's attention to a

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26



5480

1 C8se not even within the provisions of that clause. Peo­

2 pIe again st Reynolds, 16th Cal., peg e 134 says this:

3 (Reading:) "The question of actual biss is necessarily

4 more difficult of solution upon any general principl es.

5 It is impossible to prescribe the }:erticular instances

6 which constitute grounds of challenge for this cause.

7 The statute thus defines it 'the existence of astate of mind

8 on the part of the juror, in reference to the case, which,

9 in the exercise of a sound discretion on the part of the

10 trier, __ t on the part of your Honor -- 'leads to the

11 inferenc e that he will not act with entire impartiality. t

12 The ascertainment of this state of mind is left wi th the

13 triers --" 1 eft wi th the court -- "and no app eel is given

14 from their decision. It does not follow, because, as a

15 conclusion of law, a juror is not disqualified by the ex-

16 istence ofcertain facts that the triers may not reject him

17 The statute makes the expression of an unqualified

18 opinion, in law, bias, which cause excludes of itself such

19 jurors; but the eocpression of a l~ss decided opinion does

20 not, as matter of law, exclude th e juror; but it may be

21 sufficient of itself, or in connection vJith other proof,

22 to exclude him, if, in the jUdgment of the court __ It I will

23 put the court in the place of the word '-"triers". (~ead-

24 ing:) ItFrom what th~ can discover of the character of

2~ .
u the juror, this ecpression or t mse oth~ cl.rcumstanc es

26 would render him not entirely impartial. Less than

sort of expres sed or form eli opinion, for ex:~;g~i~I'J.v
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ma de up and SlCpress ad, agains t ei the r of the parti es, on

subj ect matter of the Clluse to be tried, '.vhether in civi

or criminal cases, is a good cause of principle challeng

nypothetical opinion. is not a rule of exclusion, but may

be a cause -- & law. knowing the diversities of human cha!\­

ecter, refusing to assign to such an influence 8ZW determ­

inate effect upon the conduct of all men, and yet. refus­

ing to hold that such an influence is necessarily without

the like matters to be determined by tho se who are made

the jUdges of the character of the particular juror

examined. A self-conceited. v.eak man, with violent preju­

dices, expressing himself. however loosely, about a case.

woul d not be a safe juror; while a man of sense and truth­

fulness. might be safely t rusted, though he had mo re

sstrongly connnitted himself before being put in po ssession

In other words, it

It leaves the effect of the seand

It see.meth to us that an opinion, fully

of th e enti re issue to be tried.

impartiality.

effec t upon any man.

is as if the 1 Egislature said, I Some men. having formed

or expressed an opinion loosely or heard rumors, are so

prejUdiced that they cannot rot impartially; oth ers can.

We make no general rul e YtPon the sUbj ect, but appoint men

\mO understand human nature and the laN, whose busin €SS

it is thoroughly to ex:amine the jurors expressing such

opinions or hearing suchrepo rts, and Who shall decide

whether the particular men examined will act vnth entire
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1
an

but that opinion formed or an opinion merely hypothe­
~

2 \ tical-- that is to say, founded on the supposition that

here when \~ were not in possession of facts, either at

"A new trialshow your Honor that it is not in point.

question before the juryW'BS completed? Can we say that

such a decision as that will bar us from raising the ques­

tion whenever up to the time of submitting this case to the

jury for deliberation, we have discovered the grounds

upon which we should raise this question, your Honor?

Can they cite a decision 0 f t bis kind against our motion

when ,1'1 e must ex:ercise his challeng e.

ing to say up to a fmv days ago and after this jury was

the time the jury Vias sworn or immediately before, to bring

us wi thin th e provisions of sec tion 1068 of the Penal Code?

This supposes, your Honor, a case in which thedefendant is

in possession of facts before the jury is compl eted,

lil'OVT, can ",e show that in this particular case "0':here we are

raising this question? Can we say that we could rai se this

facts are as they have been represented or assumed to be-­

do not constitute a cause of principal chellengeU , and so
left

on. So that in this case it is greatly to the discretion
1\

of this court. And "in ,people against Durant, a celebrated

case in this state, and that case of People against

Boren, which counsel cited, is not in point. ~ust let me

cannot be granted for disqualification unless the court

permits it to be taken before the jury is completed. u
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sworn, t.hat ,\ve came into the possession of facts which made

~

and it will not be presumed to hav e abused its discretion

nor \dll its ruling be disturbed, vmere it cannot be said,

under the circumstances sho\m, that am" inj'ury resulted to

defendant fram the ruling, or that the court abused its

discretion. The only right of th e defendant is to a fair

upon matter coming to the knowledge of the People or de­

fendant after he has been oocepted and sworn as a juror,

and before the jury is completed, and may, in the exercise

of its discretion, per-mit a peremptory challenge to be

interpsed after such examination, thol~h the examination

may disclose no sufficient ground of challenge for causep

and impartial jury, and not to a jury composed 0 f any par­

ticular individuals; and when it app ears that a fair and

impartial jury was obtained, it is the general rule that

an error of the court inallo\'ring a challenge and permit­

ting a juror to beex:cused is not SUbject to review."

Now, that is an instance in which the juror, had been

to try the case. Th e peopl e a sk ad to reexa'l'l1ine that

juro.r; he "vas reexmnined, and although there was no dis­

closure of facts from his reexamination, constituting a

that juror, in law, disqualified to sit upon this case.

In th e l16th Cal., People vs Durrant, the court says this ­

l~ow, let's sec, your Honor, what the court has said. Let's

see if they have cited the law to your Honor: (Reading:}

"The court has pOVler to permit the reexamination of a juror

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26



5484

1 cause for a challenge for bias, yet the District Attorney

2 was allovred, after having waived his right to challeng e,

3 was allowed to re remptorily discharge the juror for good

4 cause shown•. Now, there is a deviation entirely from the

5 provision of the code. There is an entire departure from

6 th e provisions of the code in that. The code provides

7 peremptory challenge shall be made alternatively, yet,
I

8 your Honor, after the juror had been l)assed and had been

9 sworn and had been constituted a member of that jury, the

10 court, at the instance of the People, allowed a reexamina­

11 t ion of th at j urtlr and the court allovled him to be dis-

12 charged•. Now, there 'was an instance, your Honor, in

13 which the facts -- the peculiar facts of the case, the

14 sup reme Court said, t hat the court might &ercise its dis­

15 cretion in allowing such a thing to be done. In people

16 against lfontgomery. they held the same thing, that the court

17 in its sound discretion might allow the prosecution to

18 enter a peremptory challenge to the juror after he had

19 been sworn. It is in th e discretion of the court entire-

That is not this case. I am simply showingMR APPEL:

20 lYe

21 JlR FREDERICKS: That is before the completion of the jury

22 in each instanc e.

23 !,fR .APPEL: Arter he is sworn, but before the compl etion of

24 the jUI"'J.

25 ~,rn FORD: .rust exactly what the code provides for.

26



1 that there is

2 THE COUffi1:I dontt think },{r Appelts argument was mis­

3 leading at all.

4 MR APPETJ: I.am not saying that is applicable in this case.

5 I will just say that the discretion is left 'wi th the court t

6 in cases not specifically enumerated.
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s 1 Now, your Honor, let's take the argument of counsel in
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re8pe~t
2 to the danger of bringing up this question at this tillie.

3 In order to bring up that queotion, yCJur Honor,at this time,

4 counsel assu8es first that we had discovered in advance of

5 knowing the8e facts that the juror is against us, and that

6 haVing discovered that the juror is against us that then we

7 have gone down there to find out any facts upon which we can

8 disqualify him--

9 MR. FORD. Pardon me, :,;r. Appel,l didn't say that.

10 1,~R. APrEL· No, you didn't say that, but your premises

11 for arguing that mean that and 1 say that your premis es are

12 Iall wrong. Now, the facts are not that. We have shown to

131 your Honor that first information came to us without seeking

14 I it, to the effect that this juror had expressed his opinions
I

15 I ?nd his beliefs concerning ;,tr. Darrow before he was ilnpaneled

16 here as a jur or • NO~v, we havlimg r ece ived that informt ion,

17 'ir. Rogers s ta ted to T:Jur Honor that he went down there himse 1

18 and talked to these people who claim to have knowledge of the

19 fact that he had so expressed himself before he was imrpanele .

20 ~TOW, those are the facts before this court and any other

21 construction given to the fact is either absurd or it is

22 wilfullyfa18e~ Now, you can select either chan0e and

23 accept it· in that respect ~

24 THE COT~T. TICe court is accepting the position of the defen~

25 and! with the highest good faith.

26 1;R. APPEL. Your '-';':, Honor can see that the argunient of
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1 counsel is.8 rroneous and untenable in that respect. No one
e

2 excep t. a_ member and emploi of the Dis tr ic t At torney's

3 office ever went over there to find cut to see if an ex­

4 pr eS8 ion coul.d be gotten fron; tt e family of that jur.or.

5 MR. FREDERICKS' No e([,ploye of the District Attorney's offic

6 did, i,:r. Appel.

7 MR. APPEL. Iltr. Fredericks, you don't know, you see that 1

8 am careful in making the assertion, eu t 1 will s1¥ to you

9 that if you'bring r,:r. Duni on the stand and ask him why he

10 went behind th is juror, went down ther e wh en the jur c>r

11 first got sick and he went down there around the neighbor­

12 hood and why people down .there, friends of mine, immediately

13 informed down here they were trying to find out--;;'r. Duni

14 himself, whether an expression had been let out of the

15 juror's family, if that be true then we are correct in as­

16 suming that,if we are not true we are not correct in as­

17 suming that.

18 MR. FREDER 1 CKS • You are no t correct in assuming it.

19 MR ~PPEL. fut it may be jus t a s -:rue as the fac t that

20 two employes were not up in the Trenton Bouse down there

21 from the beginning that the jury went over there, but

22 l:owever that may be, that has nothing to do With t'bis argu-

23 IIient, your Honor, and 1 don,t care for trat. 1 am onlY

24 answering the".': .~ifIJpaSsione d assun.pt ion of absolute in-

25 nocer-ce and angelic innocence or white winged innocence of

26 my friend Ford, that is all. We wi11 stipulate he is a
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1 virgin, so far as innocence is concerned, but here is a

2 pr opos it ion, your Honor, if 1.'ve coul d sit her e after lea~n ingl

3 these facts and. not offer to raise ttis question now, why,

4 yJur Honor wi~l see we canr.ot raise it after ~verdict, and

5 vie ask your Honor that even if your Fonor should rule--

6 if your Honor should rule that we are not entitled to rid

7 this jury of the p'articular juror in question, thcit we be

8 allowed to introduoe the facts here upon which we claim the

9 right to have that juror excluded. We ask your Honor that

10 we be allowed to put those witnesses on t.he stand that

11 this record may be made up. But, if your Fonor.says, not-

12 1 Withstanding whatever evidence we might intr,oduce here,

13 tha t your Monor is powerless .to act, why, of course, our

14 offer, may be rejected, and your Honor may rule against us,

15 I and \ve nay have the right hereafter to show in the record,

16 1 by affidavits what were the facts that we could have proved

17 here before your Honor, so that son,e other court, in case

18 it ahould be necessary, rr,ight rule upon this :::J.uestion.

19 I say there is nothing in the code and there is nothing in

20 any decision, and 1 am of the opinion that \'lith a little

21 time and a little patience 1 could cite decisions, what we

22 claim here has been done before. 1 think 1 can find cases

23 to that effect. 1 have that irr,pression, and 1 am assured

24

25

26

that somewhere in Indiana th?t there are sorr,e cases directly
. Gabr iel

in point. It ... Irrlly.be_ that we canr:ot get any frOI!i San/

or Patagonia, but that doesn't precfuude other states fron
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having decided the queBtion. 1 will admit that there are

no decisions from south of First street, but there might be

some from other states and some other courttries. Anyhow,

we have place"d our posi tion here squarely before the court

and counsel hel'e has son1ething to say.



• &a.dat Call1lty La..~ 5Ii 90

1 HR "ROGERS: ;rust replying, if your Honor will permit me,

2 to the cont ention of M'r Ford, that this is done for the

3 purpose of intimidation, and just replying further, not

4 to the charge,. but to the intimation that his family was

5 approached, I take it upon myself to indorporateinto th e

6 record the facts, ~cording to my statement, which may

7 be proven, if ,so desired, that his family has not been

8 approached; studiously has that been avoided Qy us.

q'.
I:'

Ii

His family has ,never been seen by

a neighbor having already telephoned me earlyto see me,

circumstance, and it· transpired that his brother-in-l fN{

-
in the morning that such conditions did ~ist as the

to follow directions.

any member of our staff or any person connected vdth us or

ever has been made to intimidate him 6;r to carry ne".,s to

has been talked to was this morning, and that came up Qy Iie

,I

I

On the morning whEn the most definite information came to

was working \vithin 150 feet of my house, and he came over

me, I took the precaution to come to your Honor's cham­

bers and state to your Honor I.:'_JUrposed doing certain

things. I didn't wish to be criticized for it, and taat

I purposed going myself, in order that I might be abso­

lutely sure that no indiscretion was committed by failure

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18 him or to his family. The only member of the family who

19

20

21

22

23

24 brother-in-law informed me of. I wonl d have been derelict

in my duty if I had not ascertained from this relative bY:

marriage, vhat the conditions were as he understood them

25

26
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I

I

I
~

he said upon the leave of absence granted by you r Honor.

We have :never sent a pEl rson to endeavor to find out what

the jury may, perchance, h8V'e said to any person. We ha.re

had no member of any family seen by any person in our an­

ploy, nor have we any knowledge a fany such circumstance

whatever. On the contrary, I an informal that persons

I am not jD'epared to make any cont ention in that regard

persons hBV'e gon~ behind jurors ;/ho have been allowai to

go to their home and have talked to persons wi th 'Nwm.
jurors have talked, for the purpose of ascertaining what

th~J s~, and, if your Hohordesires any proof on that --

stated to your Honor before any investigation was made,

that facts had come to our attention Which we deemed it our

was sworn in on this jur.Y. to-wit. if Leavitt was on that

jury the defendant would never be ooquitted. I wOl.l~dl have

been derelict in my duty if I didn, t find out What the

brother-in-law, as a matter of fact. had to say. We dis­

claim any intimidation or disclaim anything except as I

5491

duty to invesstigate. and we have investigated it, without

in anywise attempting to reach the juror or his family or

intimidate him or terrorize him. We have not , if your

Honor please, follooed any juror about to ascertain what

but it was don e simply by pure c i rcums t anc e. and by vi r­

tue of tile fact that the telephone was received by :rhe this

moming as early as ? o'clock, telling me that this broth­

er-in-law had "made certain statements after 1fr Leavitt
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follo'M3d them into restaurants and one place and another

for the purpose of overhearing their conversation. If

it becomes n €C essaTy to' prove t rat, I stand ready to prove

it. k. far as intimidation or any matter of that kind is

concerned, it is an old thing t hat is well said many y €ars

ago, people who live in glass houses should, at least pull

down the blinds. Now, that counsel has said Vie are intim­

idating the juror, or that this has been done for that

purpose, it might be well to observe that two employes

of the District Attorney's office lived on th e same floor

wi th this jury, and dined as close as circumstances' \'lould

permit at ellery meal, for the purpose of overhearing.

We hmre done nothing of that kind, and we simply hwe pre­

sented to your Honor vhat we believed to be the conditions,

appealing to your Honor's sense of justice and discre­

tion. I ~ not prepared to cite a case in point in

California, because I am satisfied that 8 condition of this

kind has never been present ed to th e Appellate Court, so

that it might be placed in the records, \m ere it might be

available to us, and therefore, we cannot bring authorities.

This condition did exist in one case in which I appeared

as connsel; a juror was sworn in -- true, the jury had

not been compl ~ed, but counsel for the prosecution lias

mi tted to st ep in and challeng e th.ree jurors 'wi thout any

showing Whatever, except that he desired to exercise

peremptory challenge. If, in that cou It t d discretion --
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1 THE COURI.': I think that very thing happened in the sel EC-

2 tion of a jury in this case.

3 UR ROGERS: But there was an issue made in this case. and

4 there was no issue made, simply 8 desire stated to the

5 court, that he be permitted toex:ercise his peremptory

6 on infonnation received by him.

7 THE COURT: That is going somewhat further.
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question so much of what this juror wi~l do, unless the cir-

favor at least. The great difficclty is that his persuasive

power, his opinion formed as it has been formed, according

to our 'information may, perhance, be used to influence and

sway other members upon the jury.

use, if your Honor could not act, if the evidence were pro-

Your Honor, it isn't a

the rule that vlould presen t
I

MR. POGERS. Y-ur Honor, we disclaim absolutely any desire

to interfere with the due administration of justice. We

disclaim any desire to bring about any condition which wi]l

not conduce to the welfare of society and the proper

respect due the court and judicial officers. ~e disclaim.
ar,y desire to bring prejudice upon this administration. We

have offered to stow to your Honor evidence to acertain

duced, the proper rule would be

the po in t we des i1' e to pr es en t •

the psychol~gy of things are different from what 1 believe

rtto be, we will not have a verdict from this juror in our

effect. If that eVidence, if produced, would not be of any

cumstances 'are very much exaggerated in my opinion, unless

16s 1
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.It is not the casting of one vote that might

be detrimental to the proper administration of justice, it i

however, the right of the .juror to be present during deli­

beration and to advance argument for the consideration of th

other jurors .. We have aright, if your Bonor pleases, to

ask for an acquittal just as much as we have to ask for a

hung jury, for a divided verdict; we have a right to ask fo

an absolute acquittal by .a" jury, which is absolutely

fair and entirely unbiased, ~lDd wit1:out opinion or prejudice

feeling or inclination whatsoever.

If these matters hud been presentedbef8re the

jury went into the box and we should have made the showing

which we offer to make nmv, the juror would have been ousted

from his position forthwith. for cause, beyond a question.

Now, the only matter before your Honor is whether or not

at this time we shall go through what we believe to be a

farce in the proceedings from now on, if what we tell you

is true and what we offer to prove is true, we are doing an

idle and useless thing here, andthe law does not ask UB to d

an idle or useless thing, it does not presume courts sit

for the purpose of doing an idle and useless thing. If'

this jury has a state of mind as we believe and offer to

prove, we are going along because~ perchange, we have no

opportunity whatever to get a verdict in our favor and that

tte law presumes we are entitled to have, if, perchance,

evidence so justifies it or if there is a reasonable dou

. raised, if this juror is in the condition
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1 ~y his previouo statements, we are simply trying a rr.Qot cas

2 her<i, if your Honor pleases, ani what is worse than a ffiQOt

3 case, we are taking tre defendant along to a verdict which

4 when rendered against him will not satisfy the conscience

5 of the pUblic, will not satisf~ the conscience of the court

6 and wil1 not .satisfy, in my jUdgment, anyone who has a

7 sense of the fitness of things. aI~ ". right or justice.

8 The defendant is entitled to have 12 men absolutely unbiased

9 to hear his case, and if this juror has not that condi tion

10 of mind, we are C:~oing an idle and useless thing in one

11 respect, and worse than that, vIe are doing an unjust and a

12 cr iwinal thing. If your Honor pleases, how em :,ir. Darrow s i

13 her e Emd expect a ver die t from a man who tae said, according

14 to our ir.formatior., what 1 have offered to prove he did say?

15 We sit here with our fingmrs tWiddling, trying our case, it

16 is true, but with no expectation of a successful issue.

17 That,urcter the circul.,stances, is not the position the law

18 expects us to be put in and 1 go back lliany years, before any

19 codes were written and any decisions were handed down, to

20 the old naxim of the old law which was written in the latin,

21 in the old law books, wherever there is a law there is a

22 remedy. TYat is a wrong, ar.:.y one VI ith a sense of justice

23 ffiUSt understand, any Or.e With a sense of fitness of things

24 must realize. 1 believe not a person who sees the situa-

25 tien but what will acqUiesce in the state!l:ent we ought not

26 to be tried 'by a man in the.t cor..dition or fr~me of n:ir.d.



Now, the question is, because there is no speci­

fic staten,ent in the code or no specific 1-.olding inthe

~rove is proved, does it not outrage your sense of the

fitness of things to endeavor to sit here and endeavor to

pass upon the guil t or the innocence of this defendant if

here to an unrighteous verdict or to no verdict at all?

It does not seem to me we are that ha1pless, it aoes not

seem to Ir,e your Honor sitting up there to do justice to all

persons, ·:tave to sit there and you must st;:;o.nd by and see

Must we go on

If it does outrage

If what we attempt to

courts, are our hands absolutely tied?

injustice done to this defendant.

a juror has that opinion against him?

your HonorIs sense of justice and fitness of .things--b8cause

we were not fortunate enough to discover this rratter before

--if your Honoris sense of justice is outraged, are your

hanQs tied? Must we go on to theverdict that will not be

convincing to a defendant, which will not be of any gain

to the prosecution, and which will have no persuasive effect

upon the pUbl ic mind whatsoever 7

1 sugges t, if your Hor..or pleases, th at if a way

can be found, and it ought to be found, if these facts are

true, by the consent of the District Attorney, because he

is as much counsel for the defendant as Iam--if a way can

be found by his consent it ought to be done. If those

fact~ are true, which 1 have offered to produce evidence on­

it seeniS to IT,e, if your Honor pleases, that all persons

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

p 19

. 20

21

22

23

24

25

26



5498

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

engaged in upholding the integrity of our jurisprudence

should coinc ide thCtt sone thing ought to be done, and if it

can 1::e done in this cas e without a del ay of a monient, if

it occasions no loss of jurisdiction and if once in

jeopardy the doctr ine th ereof does not apply , it s ecms to me

one of the easiest things in the world to say, "Very well,

we do not want an unri8hteous verdict, and we do not want

a jury hung here on ouch me ans and by such methods," it

seems to me the District Attorney might wel) stand up and

say, "Very well, your Honor, if this is proven to be true,

1 will listen to the truth--if it is pro\~n to be true 1

want 12 fair and impar t ial Irlen to try the defendant and 1

do not w~nt a verdict against this defendant unless in the

eyes of Ged and man it is a true verdict. " That seems to

be the s i tua t ion and a solution of it. If that is not

true, if 1 cannot prove these things, then no harm is done,

but if 1 can prove it, it seems to be a sense of justice

and of the fitness of things appeals to every m~n that

hears it. The defendant ought to have sorIle relief and if

your Honor canrot give it, 1 appeal to the District Attorney

to give it to us in justice and fitness, and 1 disclai~, as

1 have stated to your Honor, a lack of good faith, and 1

submit to your Honor, if anything had been done or had been

intended to be done by way of intimidation 1 certainly would

not have told your Honor before 1 ';lent to El Nonte why 125
26 went there and what 1 proposed to cio, and whom 1 proposed
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to see.

or concede for one mOIl:ent' that tnese--

In fact,

If 1 am wrong,

, in the 105 Cal., iT:

upon that theory that 1 had the closing.

the jurors for cause after the jury has been completed, al-

MR. FORD· The 1.ueBtion is simply one of whether your Fonor

has a right to inquire at this time into things which, if

THE COURT. The defense has the closing of this argun:ent-­

MR. FOnD. 1 thought they had made an offer and we had made

an objection and, therefore, we had the closing upon our

objection to their offer, as 1 underst~nd it.

~R. ROGERS· 1 moved that your Honor do hear- such testimony­

MR • FORD. And we objected to that and 1 was proceeding

true, would be a grounds for challenge. We do not contend

though that could not be done in crimir.al cases.

however, 1 have just a word to say, your Honor.

In aivil cases the jury is not sworn in until

the jury is completed and there is nothing iLthe Code of

Civil Procedure With regard to the irr;panelrr;ent of jurors in

c iv il cases which prevents the court from rerr,oving one of

our courts have held in civil cases that a juror might be

challenged after the jury was completed, in two cases, one

of them being the case of Lawler vs. Linfort--

THE COlJRT. There i& a very different rule here--

un. FORD. 1 only W?.Il t to call yom; Honor' 8 at t.ent ion to that

fact,- for tr.e reason that the procedure is contrasted.

the case of the People vs
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1 vs. Linforth, a civil case the juror had been cballenged

2 after the jury had been completed, and the court held that

3 the allowance of the challenge was not error. There is

4 nothing in the Code of Civil Procedure preventing the court

5 froIl. dOing that, but in a cr iminal cas ether e is a law

6 which expressly prohibits the court from doing it. After

7 the jury is completed, for any cause. In a cr irr,inal case

8 the court had seen f it to remove a juror after the evidenc

9 I:ad begun to be heard and in People vs Ward the cour t says,

10 ''In civil cases it has been held that a juror may for cause

11 be excused by the court after hav ing been once acaepted."

12 Cit ing Grady vs Ear 1 fl, 18 Cal, 109, and Lawler VB l,inforth,

13 72 Cal., 105, not only where the juror had been accepted

14 but th e jury con,plete d. Then the cour t a ays : "Bu t in

15 criminal casea chaJlenges, preemptory or for cause must be

16 ta:-:enwhen the juror appears and before he is sworn to try

17 the case, but the court rrJay for cause pernit it to be taken

18 after the joror is sworn and before the jury is completed."

19 Constrastirg the sections that obtain, one in a criIT-inal

20 case and one in a civil case. Now, that prir..ciple, without

21 discussing it, your Honor, has been cited in a nmnber of

22 cases, which 1 cited to your Honor during the examination of

23 the jury ir. the first instance. lnthe case of People vs.

24 183 Cal., 482; People vs Durant, which has

25 just been cited by counsel in the 116 Cal; People vs.

26 Beverly i~ the 87th Cali People vs Montgolliery, 53



the situation now presented to the court. That is true

with the manner in which it arose, but the court discussed

, and it holds,

.5501l
1
!.

People vs. Scoggins, I10 Cal;

That is the particular poirt that

After reciting that the juror should b

Peop1 e vs War d, wh i cb 1 have jus t read, and the37 Cal;

People vs. Rodriguez

i
;

j
I

,1
:1

"When can a ~.1
and just by way of illustration, •

1 will read one short paragraph from something 1 already

~

case of People VB Schmitz, in the 7th Appellate, 346.

Now, your Honor, counsel has stated a11 of the

cases read by us were referring to sorlie situatIon otber than

the very question which is now before the court,

challenge be interposed?"

read to your Honor.

prisoner be held to allege that fact. Undoubtedly, if the

is s,~Torn, '.vr.at step may he subsequently t::>.ke to avail hirn-

is sworn, he may interpo'-3e a cha11enge for cause, but if the

fact be known to him and he makes it appear before the juror

prisoner had or did not know the fact of disqualif~ation, or

is being discussed in People vs L Fair

-"There is only one t iree at which me may do it and that is

before the jury is completed. «
r~ow , that is the only

question of law that is before your Honor, it is not a

question of legislation for your Honor in any way, shape

unprejudiced the court says, "But that may not in fact be so

'3.nd if not the question is, at what time in the progress of

the case and through what method of procedure way the

self of the objection?"

knowing it is still unable to establish it before the juror

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12
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cannot fail to have that effect and 1 think that is the

lawmight make in individual cases by reason of its Uni-

They cannot fc.i1 to have

However, 1 think there is a good reason for

1 have not made any accusations like that, and

Your Honor has to accept the law as it is; your

versality.

form.

MR. FORD.

the record wi l) so ah ow .

the law at the present tin,e, 1 think the law is a wise one

and the point 1 was trying to make to yOU' Honor was this;

That whether the defendant intends to intimidate a juror

existence of non-existence of law governing particular cases

If there is any inequality in the law there is a method

provided by which they may correct it, in a pardon

by the government, which was intended originally not as an

act of clemency, but intended to correct mistakes which the

Honor assumes, for the sake of dischar ging the dut ies of

your office, the:. t there is some wise purpose ei therin the

that effect and would undoubtedly often be taken advantage

of by defendants who if guilty of one crime would not hesi-

tate to commit alfother. At this time, bm':ever--
ing

MR. ROGERS. Do you mean to accuse .me of co~itt/~ crime?

or not, the mere fact that charges have been made will in­

timidate him and prevent him from discharging his duties,

with that fairness and impartiality which the law aims at;

reason the law prohitits it.

1,Ivhetber the charges be true or false, whether n1ay be proven

or not, whether they desire to intimidate or not, they

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26



1 MR. ROGERS. You say a man th[: t is commi tt ing one cr ime

2 will not hesitate to con~it another and I do not like that

3 express ion--

4 TEE COu~T. It. does not convey that impression to me--

5 UR. FOBD I did not mean anything--

6 MR. ROGERS. The accusation was made that 1 was intimidating

7 this juror and if a defendant wiTl comnJit one crime he

8 would not hesitate to comniit. another, and 1 '.'!ould like to

9 discla1n-, th ~lt statement.

10 MR. FREDERICKS· :.!r. For d is c1 ting hypothet ieal cases,

11 reciting especially from this--

12 MR. FORD. If you will read the whole of it--l will say,

13 r egar dless--

14 THE COURT. 1 Vi ill dispos e of this. Mr. Ford, have your

15 remarks any personal ap pI ic at ien whatever?

16 MR. FORD. Absolutely none, they are addressed to the court

17 by way of argument and they cannot bear311y possible applica

18 t ion •

19 ME. DAnnOW It has been said so many times is the reason,

20 in the presence of the jury--

21 MR. FORD· The point is at th is time it· is the law that

22

23

24

25

1 have been discussing and the effect that charges of this

character--l have expressly said, it matters not whether

they be made in good faith, it Ira t ters not whether they be

made in th e bel lef that they have a right to mak e thenl or

With the belief there may be some other object to be
26
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read the law and come to the conclusion not only in this

and especially at this tilI:e, in opposing this motion, or

As 1 have

Counsel

which were, if the

as counsel suggests

In regard to counsel's a~lission that

court.

because regardless of what the defendant may desire in that

matter it cannot but fail to have the effect to influenee

MR • FEEDERI CKS t

difference, ~y point is it is a wise omission of the law,

obtained by it--it does not make the slightest particle of

a juror in his verdict and in his deliberations, and that

is why 1 believe that it has been admitted, and to make the

matter clear 1 want to expressly say 1 am not making any

charges, in making that argument to the court, against in

any way, shape or form, and 1 submit the matter to your

Honor on the pure questicn of law which is before the

puts several ifs in his suggestion

by Whatever name the action may be designated•.

there was no law justifying the rratter or saying if there

was none he appealed to the District Attorney--the District

Attorney is an officer of the law and charged with the

duty of enforcing the law as it is and charged With the duty

of doing What he conceives to be for the best intere$t of

soc iety., and that is wh'J.t 1 am trying to do in this rna tter,

case but in others, any move such

would be an absolute dismissal of this case, absolute dis

missal of the case, for, if the jury brou gr:t in a verdict

defer.dant would not be in jropardy and all that.
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1 guil ty it would be brought in not in accordance with law ii,

2 and could be set aside at will and certainly no defendant

3 would Bubmi t to i t--

4 MR • DARBOW. May 1 ask a question?

5 MR • FRF:DER leKS. Certainly, Mr. Darr ow. 1 don f t know whether

6 1 can answer it or not, but you can ask it.

7 MR. DAPROW. You can.· Supposing you wsre inclined to do

8 this--l don't sa;' you ought to, that is your business--

9 MR. FHEDEP.ICKS· Yes.

10 MR. DARROW· --but, here is a juror who has been ill, and

11 has delayed the ~rial several tirreli, has doctor's certifi­

12 cates and all that, who may be ill again tomorrow. Suppose

13 on request of the defendant you stipulate with us that on

14 account of the illness of this jury, the 13th juror takes

15 h is place, is ther e any pOS 6 ible chance that Vie could raise

16 a question about it?

17 MR. FREDERICKS. Yes, 1 think so. The juror has been in

18 court here and said he could go on.

19 MR. DARROW. That would not make any difference.

20 Ivm. FREDERICKS. 1 am thoroughly satisfied with the rectitud

21 of this man, although he is an absolute stranger to me, 1 am

22 thoroug~ly satisfied with him and 1 do not believe it is a

23 Question that there should be ~ny such precedent as this

,I
IIIC

24 established. 1 know it would not stand if the def e r.s e

25 lost the suit and they had the right to appeal, 1 know it

26 would not stand a moment, and we have got to dr ive along
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1 according to law. We had our time, we examined the juror, Ii,

2 both sides, we shot our bolt, now let us drive on.

3 THE r:OURT. Gentlen:en, tbis is a very unfortunate incident

4 in a good many ·ways. It is unfortunate that there should

5 be any suggestion of animadversion against counsel

6 for the defense in making the investigation. It was dene
,

7 with my knowledge. lilr. Rogers came to lty charr;bcrs yesterday

8 morning, as he has stated, he had proposed to make such an

9 investigation unless forbidden to do so; it was not for-

19 this could be made within the law it would certainly be done

20 in this case but 1 do not believe it can be done, gentleIlJBn.

21 From the eX3lr:ination that 1 have made of the law

cOL;ld be legally made; the court shares in that attitude

The pros ecu t ingthis tinie as to hie qual if ic at iens to act.

bidden. 1 had been in touch with couns e1 on both sides :n d
conferences with

had severallcounse1 on both sides inregard tc: this matter,

attorney states that he wishes such an investigation if it

and had had it very much on my mind ,especially all day yes­

terday and last night. The defendant asks to have the juror

who had heard. much of the evidence in the case tr ied at

with counsel on both sides, if such an investigation as

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

22 and the argun:ent which has been presented here this mo:rning,

23 1 am satisfied that the examination as to the qualifications

26 chaJlenges upon either sida mUdt be presented before that

24 of the juror to serve in a given case, speaking now of cri-

25 IIiinal cases, mus t be made before the jury is sworn;
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1 time, failing that parties nust hold their peace until

2 after the care has been 8ubmi tted. It is unfortunate tha t

3 either party should present this case to either a judge or

4 a jury where there is :my question in the mind of the party

10 expresses simil?r views or given loose expressions to some

11 s tateulents before he is impane led on the jury and yet be

12 able to put those expressions and views as·ide and to be

5 as to whether or not his case will be determined upon the

6 evidence and facts and the law' as duly presented; that to

7 my mind is the most regrettable part of this incident. The

8 Suprerlle Court, however, has held out the comforting statemeI±

9 thatfrequently happens that the man may have previously

!r
1'1

fj

!

1 trust, and per-

1 beJieve that this juror Will,

trial was not discussed, the general appearance and quality

ciency of that be;ief.

haps it is but fair to say, tr-at 1 believe and tope th3.t

house the other day when, of course, the subject o~ this

simply have to abide the event and determine the suffi-

in the case of the particular juror involved here that

such is the case; 1 believe such to be tr:c caseand we will

froITI my ob~;ervation here in the court, and my visit to 'bjis

13 able to render a jus t and true verdict.

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22 of the nian's ndnd, 1 believe 1:e can put aside any opinion

23 he has, when he is rendering a verdict here according to

24 the law and the evidence. At any rate, 1 arr satisfied
. .

25 that the power does not exist in the court at this tiwe to

26 s top the tr ia1 and enter upon a trial of tt equal if ic at io
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The application to present evidence upon

2 that sUbject is t:herefore denied. 1 want to make the

3 ruling very full, ~~ Rogers, and if that is not sufficient-­

4 MR. ROGERS. 1 was about to suggest, if yorr Honor pleases,

5 1 desire to have it appear that 1 offered to call these

6 witnesses who are u~er subpoena and in attendance upon this

7 court.

8 THE COURT. 1 have 60 understood the offer, :.'!r. Rogers.

9 MR. ROGERS. i'res.

10 THE COUR-T. The court will now adjourn ur:til 2 o' cl ock this

11 afternoon.

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

- -



3 Defendant in court with counsel.

1

2

AFTERNOON SESSION. July 25,

5509 I,
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I

4

5 THE COUR T. Call the ro 11 of the jurors, :.:r. cl erk •

6 (Roll call of jurors by clerk.)

7 THE CLERK. All present, your Honor.

8 THE caUR T. You may proceed, gen tlemen •

9 1m.. FREDERICKS. 1 wan ted to ask :'1r. Steffens another ques-

,I
I"

10 tion .. You h~d him here sometime.

11 MR. ROGERS. When would you like him'?
I

12 I MR. FREDERICKS. 1 arc ready any time.

13

14 LEe 0 M P 'I' E D A VIS,

151 a witness called on behalf of the defense, being first

16 dUly sworn, testified as follows:

17 DIRECT EXAMINATION.

18 MR. APPEL. Q You may state yOU' nane, please.

19 A My name is LeCcr.;pte Dav is.

20 Q. Do you reside here in the city, i!:r. Davis'? A I do.

21 Q What is your business, o-:;cmpation or profession?

22 A Lawyer.

23 Q, How long have you been pr:.::.ctinging law7 A 21 or 23

24 years •

i
J
•
2
;
1,

26 in -tle caoe of the People against J. B. and J. IJ. McNamara

25 Q
..
~ou were one of the attorneys on the part of the defense
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1 and others? 'A J was.

2 Q Do you know the witness George Behm? A 1 do.

3 r;;, Do you remerr,ber when you first became acquainted wi th

4 tim, about what time?

5 MR • FREDER leKS 1 didn't oatch that name.

6 A Geor ge Behm.

7 MR. FREDKRICKS' Oh, yes.

8 A It Was some time near the beginning of the tr ial of the

9 case, jus t shor tly before, inthe Super ior Court.

10 Q, You are a member of the firm of Davis and Rush? A 1 am.

Q You became one of the attorneys of the McNamaras about

Q With off ioeshere in the city of l,os Angeles on Spr irg

Second, Bryson BuDding.

..

1Il

•..•..

Berm was

A . 'rhe nor tt~Nes t corner of Spr ing and

1 presun,e it was sometime along in ,June ofA

Do you remewber about' the time when George

•I
»
JIl

I
all
~,
11
\1

You continued to be 'one of the attorneys until what time? II
(I
:!

until the plea of gUilty we.s entered.A

last year.

Street and second?

what time?

Q

Q

16

17

18

19

11

12 I

131
141

I
151

I

20 subpoenaed as a wi tness to appear before tr..e grand jury, or

21 was called tbere as a Witness before the grand jury'/

,
H

22 A 1 do.

23 Q Dur ing th at tirr,e and pr ior ther eto ar..d ther eafter, how

24 often ar..d With What frequency were you in corr,pany With .•ir.

25 Darrow? A Well, fran, the tiff,e :,~r" Darrow came here until

26 the clo~e of the easel was practicaJly With him every ti
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1 he was her e. 1 do not suppos e there VI as a day went by 1

2 was rot with him, and 1 W2..S with 'bimmost of the time.

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Q, You rray state whether at that time in your pr~sence, },:r. I
Darrow did or did not instruc t the witness Behn.!. to tes tify

in any particular manner or to answer any particu~ar questioJ .

that might be propounded to him before' the grand Jury In anJ_1
~~~~ __.......-c

10 particular way.

concern the case," and refuse to answer.

..
•..•III

1 presume this refers to the first time he

Yes, sir.

appeared before the grand jury?

MR. FREDERICKS.

_Fe appeared tw~ce. 1 do

not wish to object to it if it is clear. Ai
'\ .

A You mem to give a par ticular answer to a quee t ion? '-

-- 'I'A No, except to tell him to answe~' =
that question, and there were cert2-in questions that;~ir. ~/

irrelevant and irrmaterial and did not concern tbe case, but

MR. APPEL.

he could no t r emem'ber or did not r emen,ber enough to say

incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial, and so we finally

todd hirr, to say, when that question came up, "That does not

Darrow and myself both told him to say to the grand jury,

when they asked him that question, that it was incompetent,

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

11

12

13

141
151
16 !

24 Q NOW, you nay state whether or not you or :i;r. Darrow or

25 in your presence or in the presence -of each other at any

26 time s ta ted to ~,~r. Geo:gge Behm to deny any fac t concerning
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1 which he was to be asked or to deny the truth of any fact

2 or to rrake any declaration contrary to the truth of any

A ~:reither of us did.3

4

fact that he might be inquired of?

Q Now, you remember that after the first time that Behm

5 went before the grand jury that there were some proceedings

6 wherein he was cited to appear before the court in contempt

7 proceedings? A Yes, 1 remember it distinctly.

8 Q, iiow , after those proceedings were instituted do you rem-

9 em':Jer of his going before the grand jury a second time?

10 A I do.

institution of those contempt proceedings, did you and ~~

he went before the grand jury the second time, and after the

I',

..

iYhy, as ~....
A

Mr. Rehm have a consul tat ion· toget.her upon the. t

A We did.

,
Before the second time, say the night before the day when'

•III
!
~

Who represented [.ir. Behm in those proceedings?

[arrow and

evening?

nearly as he was represented by anytody 1 did.

Q,

14

15 I

I
16

17

18 Q W:here \-vas that consuJtation? A My recollection is

19 that it was in rrlY office, in the litrary of it. 1 think

20 we first met at ;,:r. Darrow's office and went from there

21 over to nlY office; wanted to look up some author i ties,

22 there is where we ha.d the conversa tion •

23 Q Do you remen;ter whether or not :ilr. Rehm had furnished

24 you, had with you there at the consultation a citation and

25 an affidavit of the foreman of the grand jury '"rherein

26 appear the questions that had been propou~ded to him and
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1 which he had refused to answer, upon the occasion prior to

2 that time '.vhen he was examined before the grand jury.

3 A 1 would not say that \:t. Behm furnished it, though that

4 is my recollect-ion, we had it there before us.

5

6

7

Q 1 will attract your attention to a document here

has been introduced in evidence and which is marked

Exhibit Nunber 21. 1 Wish you Vi oul d be kind enough

which I
People's

to look 1

8 over it 80 that 1 may state a question to you in reference

9

10

to that.

it all?

A When you say look over it, do you mean read

A 1 have11 Q Well, just examine it in u general way.

12 I examined it, :.orr Appel.

13 Q NoV'! ,lassume in my ques tion thClt that is only a copy--

14 •MR • FORD Par don me jus t ar..mornen t.

15 MR. APPEL •. --of the paper served upon George Behne.
I

16\ A I don't know, 1 think that 1 put tte marks tbat you

17 will find upon it there in those questions, they look like

18 my hiergglyphica.

20 marks, 1 lliean those in front, a cipher and the other marks

21 and not those that are to the right of the sheets. 1 didntt

22 put those on, 1 don't know who did.

23 Q Now, at that time when you and :.Ir. Darrow and ;Iir. George

24 Bshm were present, the night before he went before the grand

25 jury the second t in:e , wh at is your b e8 t recoll ec tion in

19 Q l;ow, at that consultation-- A 1 mean when 1 6 ay the

26 reference to wrether or not you had a copy of aome such



1 documen t .as you have e:x:amined now ther eat that con-

28u1t9.tion.

3 MR. FORD. Referring to Exhibit Number--

4 MR. APPEL. 21.-

5514

5

6

7

8

9

·10

11

12 !

131
141
15

116

17

18
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23

24

25

26

,
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1 A We had some such instrument there. It seems to me,

2 there, that probably tho se answers were made after we talk-

3 ed with him in this pirticular instance, so I ~t be sure.

4

5

6

Q Anyhow, it ~

him requi ring him

show cause my he

s a document whic h had been served upon
A--

to app ear - - llequi ring him to appe ar and
-\

should not be punished for contempt,

7 and setting out the questions that ha:l been asked him, and

8 his refusal to answer them.

9 Q His refusal to answer. Very v.ell. Now, did you p er-

10 sonally go over with }.[r George Behm each one of those

11 questions? A I did.

12 Q Now, did Mr Darrow join in discussing tho se questions

13 with Jlr Behm at that meeting? A He did.

14

15

Q No\v, you may state to the court and jury vvhether or

not at that time, either you or llr Darrow instructed the

•
J
II
2.

~I
1I
·t

16 witness to deny the truth, or give any answer contrary to

17 the truth of any of the facts referred to in each one of

18 those questions which was then before you? A We did no1;,

19 in each one of them or in any of them. I can bri efly

20 state "to yon mat \vas said.

21 Q State what was said to him. A After discussing the

22 matter and reading it over, why, I took up the paper and

23 read him the questions and when any question didn't concern

24 the case, or in the opinion of" either of us, it was not

25 relevant to the issue, Mr Darrow said to hL'I!l, "Answer

26 that that doesn't concern the case", and refuse to answer.
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Q, Wh ere did you meet yr BebIn? A At my of'fice.

Q, 1fr BebIn cane to your of'fice? A Came to my 0 ffice.

Q, Do you remember whether or not, you and :M:r BebIn 'M3nt

anywhere after that? A My recollection is vre went be­

f'ore the grand jury at the time he came t that is, he went

before the grand jury, and I went to the door in front

of' it, the ante-chamber.

Q, You71ent where? A To the lobby of the court house in

f'ront of' the grand: jury room.

Q, In f'ront 0 f the grand jury in the old building there?

A yes sir.

Q, Now, fran the time Mr BebIn came to your office on tl1lt

1 Whenever we came to a qu astion t hat we thought was relevant

2 and material, Mr Darrow said, tf.Answer t hat question, If

3 without s eying azwthing else.

4 Q Were there any other or dif'ferent instructions than

5 you have indicated now t given to him at that tim e?

6 . A At no time that I knew of'.

,7 Q NOW't upon that evening, a f't er t hat consul tation was

8 over t do you remember whether any appointment was made

9 with yr Georg e BebIn for the f'o I lowing morning bef'ore he

10 shonl d appear before the grand jury? A There was.

11 Q, Was that appointment kppt, do you mow? A It VJ8S.

12 Q, Who kept it? A Myself and 1fr BebIn.

13 Q, vas llr Darrow there present at that time? A He was

14 not.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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1

2

morning succeeding your previous night consultation on
and

the day before you went before the grand jury 'A up to th e

3 time he entered the room of th e grand jury, you may state

him again.

jury the first time, were you ever present at any conver-

pointment to be kept, at whose 0 fiic e? A My 0 fiic e.

II

l\
II.,

I did not.

And ur Behm, as you say ,came there? A Came there.

From th e time he came there, up to th e time you went to

Now, prior to ur Behm bei~ called before the grand

With reference to the appointment, vJh ere was the ap-

Now, did you at that time, or any other time, succeedingQ

Q

Q

A

Q

Q

the grand jury lobby with l{r Behm,was ur Darrow present

at any time in the presence ofur BebIn? A No sir.

Q Did you and Mr Rehm talk over these questions again

that morning? A I don't know whether we did or not, but

that is my recollection that I went over the paper with

-

your meeting him in your office, on the morning that he

went before the grand jury, the second time, give him

an.)! other or different instruc tions than you have al ready

indicated that was given to him the night previous to that?

whether or not from the time you first saw l.{r Behm that

morning to th e time he entered the grand julY, 'Whether

l{r Darrow spoke to him at all? A He did not in my pre­

senc e, and I know],[r Darrow vms no t th ere in my 0 fiic e at

that time.

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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2

sation had between George Behm and Mr. Darro\v, in your

senc e, in r eferenc e to his going to the county jail?

5518l
pre- I

I I

3 A yes, I have been present at various con~ersations

4 with t~ both•.

5 Q Now, wring any of those conversations, you may state

6 whether or not Mr Darrow or yourself instructed or asked

7 1,~r Bellm to go to Mr UcManigal at the county jail and get

8 him to change any testimony or any statement that he

9 might have given before, or that he was supposed to give,

10 or to retract any statement that he might have given be-

II fore, or alleged confession that he might have given before

12 MR FREDERICKS: We obj oot to that on the ground no founda-

13 tion is. laid, hearsay, irrelwant and immaterial.

14 THE COURT: Obj ECtion CN erruled.

15 A never.

!I

II
II

I'
16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

llR APPEL: You may state now to the jury, what, if any­

thing, '\\8S said by you or by lrr Darrow to Mr Behm in re­

lation to his visits to the j ail at aI:\V time that you

cur at some oth er time.



and have a talk with ur MCllanigal with reference to the

Mr McManigal had made statements that was attributed to

overruled•.

5519
1

---.-------- ...-. -'.'...---' -'''--- "I-

WlY, Mr BebIn said that he would go over to the jail I

I

I
I
I

know very much what he had to say about the matter, 5ld

him under menace and threat,and that it was not true, Qnd

that he was sure that if he talked vd th J,fr McManigal he

would say so. That is about the substance of it.

that if he wanted hi~ or us to defend him, that he was

~~lling to do so, and Mr Behm said that he was sure that

case, and Mr Darro,\;v sai d to him that "va woul d like to

THE COURT:

A

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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1

2

3

Q Can you fix about the time of those conversations'?

A Pr ior to the time that he was tak en before the gr and jnry.

Q And with reference to the time that he came here, between

4 those two times·, how shor tly af ter he came here and how

5 s~hortly before he went before the grand jury, if you rem-

6 ember? A 1 remember two or three conversations, and

7 they occurred between that time, the first one shortly after

8 he came here, and 1 presurr:e the last one shortly before he

9 went before the grand jury.

10 Q Were there any instructions given to ;,~r. Rehm. in any

11 of those conversations to say anything to terror ize him or

12 to induce hin to change his testin,ony, or anything of tha1t

13 kind, from you or ;,~r. Dar row'?

14 MR. FREDERICKS. We object to thcr upon the ground it is

15 hearsay, calling for a conclusion of the witness; no
I
•,

16 foundation laid; and negative testimony. As 1 have not

17 the testimony of ~;r. Eehm entirely in mind, 1 do not now

18 recall that he claims to have had any such conversations

19 in the pres ence of this witness.

20 THE COURT. 1 think the objection it calls for a conclu-

21 sion is well taken. Sustained on that ground and. no other.

22 MR. APPEL. We t3..ke an exception.

23 YR. AP PEL. Q Was there anything said With reference

26

24 to ~ir. Behm in your presence by :.(r. Darrow or by yourself in

25 reference to any coercion, intimidation, inducement or in-
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1 fluence to be exerci~ed by him upon McManigal at the

2 county jailor elsewhere or in effect or purport, or any­

3 thing purporting to mean the same thing?

4 1-R. FREDERICKS.- Objected to upon the ground that no founda-

5 tion has been laid and that it is irrelevant and iLmaterial.

6 As 1 rerr:ember the testimony of Bahm he made no claim of

7 any such statement being made in the presence of :,jr. Davis.

8 MR. ROGERS. The purport of Behm's testimony, if your Honor

9 pI ease, wa6~a.,~ s tatement trat lilr. Darrow had endeavored to ge
,

10 him to go to McManigal and get him to change his testircony.

11 Your Honor will remember he rang that one phrase t trough,

12 I "Change his testimony."

13 NiR. FREDERICKS. But it was all with ~1r. Darrow.

14 Mt ROGERS. We purpos e to show that 1,lr. Davis and. :,lr. [arrow

151 were together \."hen r,lr. Behm talked with i.h. Darrow, and under

16 no other conditions. We will connect it up later in that

I

I
II

-

17 behalf.

18 TEE corn T. 1 think you are enti tIed to it on that theory.

19 1m • FREDERICKS. Of course, if they intend to shoW tD.3.t Mr.:·

20 Behm never talked to (,!r. rarrow except wh en Mr. Dav iswas pre-

21 sent, why, my objection, possibly, would not be well t:;k en,

22 but 1 did not 60 ur.d erstand it.

23 THE COUR T. Can you give me the page of :,jr. Bah m' s tee tino UJf

24 MR. ROGE RS. 1 can 1 t do it wi thout a few rwments.

25 MR. APPEL. 1 t commences, ycur Honor, at 3252, Vol un,e 28,

26 that is tne por tion thC'. t 1 spoke of.
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1 THE COURT. The ob~ection is overruled.

2 A Nothing.

3 MR. APPEL. Nothing was said. New, 1 '.Vish you wot·ld be kind

4 en::ugh to state· to tbe couxt and juxy whether at any conver-

5 satien yeu had \vith George Behrr: or :: that i.:r. Darrow

6 had With George Behm in your presence between the time that

7 he arr ived in the city of Los Angeles and the time that he

8 first went before the grand jury, you or ,.:r. Darrow stated

9 to George Behm to go to Ortie McManigal and to get Ortie

10 to come across, or words to thateffect or any such language

11 as that?

12 MR. FREDERICKS· Objected to upon the grouni that no founda­

13 tion has been laid. The testimony of the ~tneti8, as 1

14 rerrlember it, was to the effee tall c onversat icns that he

15 had about ::.r. McManigal were ta.d With Darrow alone and r,ot
I

16 i in the presence of anyone else, a.nd therefore a denial

17 that te had such co TliTersat ions in the pr es ence of th is wi tn

18 would be immater ial and no found a tion laid.

19 MR. ROGERS. We purpose to show that aJ 1 conversations of

20 any consequence or importance were held with Eenm by :.:r.

21 Davis and ;,:r. DarroW' conjointly.

22 MR. FREDERICKS· I think that ought to be shown first before

23 it is mater ial.

24 MR. ROGERS. Can't show everything all togetl1er.

25 MR. FREDERICKS. Then we ask leave' to cross-exan,ine the

I
II
II

26 Witness on that point.
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•

I
II
II

s ta tes

account the

do it.

the same respect.

has admitted a great deal of

a right to show that sonlsone

the Witness says he had a con-

Darrow alone at his house.

5523

conversation that is beir.g read now

rstand his conversation, which ;,:1'.

foundation.

only cross-examination permitted is cross-

don,t know ~s there is any authority for

~m. FREDER 1GKS •

Rehm said occurred witti

examination

MR • POGERS

THE COUR T • Mr. Appel,

by :.lr. Appe 1 , as

procedur e.

else was present.

versation With me alone

lviR. A1'1'EL.

defendant is equally good and must ha

It is a matter of the order of proof.

he will make that shOWing 1 expect he

r/R. FREDERICKS. Would your

tea t imony on th e avow 9.1 0 f the he wou d ~

I
make the testimony connect up in a certain way, under his I

I
intention to make a certain shOWing The avo1lia1 of the I

18
19 almost physical impossibility of this witne '\ saying that

:,lr. Behm did not have pr i vate conversations ','J i'\th :.lr. Darrow

20 \about which this witness knows nothing?

21 lviR. FORD. This is a conversation at the house' f ~:1'. Darrow
~ \

in Chicago before ;.:r. Davis came into the case e~~l'

23 THE COURT. 1 had forgot+en about that Cticago co versation.
2 \
4 MR. ROGERS. 1f your Honor pI eases, the tes t imony of th e

25 \
wi tness· ·Bahm to the effect that hiu GOnfers2.tioHS wer\ wi th

26 ),:r. r·arrow alone, we purpos e to controvert, we purpos:~....KY

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12
1

13

14

15

16

17



I
4

••,
••
•I
I
I
I

a foundation, in

would be physically

par ticular ly the witness

caution. Because we all realize how

1 wet a man at such and such a time and

We maintain that

5524

his conversations were, as a matter of fact, not

know how easy it is, according to the Code, the Ca e
. ts

of the or al admissions or' statemen/of a party I

":r. Darr ow but 'N i th l,{r. Dav is, but wi th 0 ther

of the attorneys of the defense, and that his state­

he had- conversations With 1k1'. Darrow alone is not

5 ,true.

6

7

8 easy it is to

2

3

4

1 sh

16 MR. FREDF.B leKS.

14 members of the attorneys

15 upon the stand.

17 order to make this testimony competen

18 impossible, and a rroral improbability.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

9 him. We purpose to show by circurtJ-

10 stances and by the of all witnesses of the defense

11 who have knowledge he subjecrji; that ;\ir. Behm1s statement

12 and conversations weDe held with ;.1r. Darrow alone hut as

13 a rratter of habit held with i,1r. DarroN but with all
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private conversationswith him

of YJ'hich t his wi tness lmo'W"S nothing

according to the testimony that is now before

any rate, came out here efter a first meating

w -- 1fr Behm 'had t bat meeting with 1fr Dar

the court,

out here, didntt

at

1

2

3

4 row in Chicago. Now, it '"ould be impo ssible for this wit­

5 ncss to say that ~:tr Darrow, who Mr Behm says brought him

6

7

I
C
C
II

II...,
C
I
I
I
4

dore in

,hat it does

and this conversa-

office at a certain

them, b eceuse Dehm himself says that

the presence of this witness, and we

not go to the weight of the testimony at

solutely to the admiBsibility of it. It

timony. I might take the s tend or your Honor mig t take

the stand or a thousand peopl e might take

in August at a certain place,

hour, ~.nd he and I were there

at all, and for this wi ness to say that he could ove11 hear

these things certainl:r i not admissible at all as proving
if

that Behm didntt say that. Now, it is trueAMr Behm had

said I was conversing with arrow alone on a certain day

that time in that place, rod that hat conversation did not

occur at all, but to ask if he ever heard Mr

Darrow tell Behm to do these things,

unlawful, why, it doesn tt prove that :M

know Mr DarroVl and see him every day, and

Bellm never had ~~ such conversation with Dartg~~d

14 tion occurred which I am relati ,then it would be prop er

15 to show that 1fr Davis v.as there,

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

8

9

10

11

12

. 13



5526

Tha t wouldn t t be admi Bsibl e to prove that Dar­

have a conversation with Behm privately and

\",
pres\ce.

row di'un' t

1

2

3 alone.

4 J1fR FORD: The w~ tness -- 0 r t he question th at is now ed-

5 dressed he witness is for the purpose of eo contradic-

On p~ethe defendant

conversation is taken.

resent at that time Mr Darrow) Mr Behm,row)

l..fR FORD: -- from which

lIr Harring ton, Mrs

8

9

6 tion 0 f 1 Eged declaration of the defendant which lXr

7 Behm testified occurred in Chicago at the house of Mr Dar-

10 2268--

11 THE COURT:

12

13 Now, there CeIl be only fective way to disprove the

14 statement of Behm, and that putting Harrington: or

15 lrrs 1,fcManigal ~:nd some persons present who

16 were there and heard the COIlV' ersati ,or to prove that

17 on that occasion there ves another pa present whom the

18 witness did not mention, put that party and 1 et him tes-

19 tify. 'lhey coullin't disprove that convers tion by saying

20 that sometime after that -- ~ter Mr Davis come into

21 the case, this conversation having occurred ,10 before Mr

22 Davis had any connection vdth the case, accordi

23 records in this case, yr Davis, a ccording to the

24 which are on file here, ~t I east as far

25 com erned, is not resociated until eftel'

26 h at. been held.
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1

i

I

he VIaS

of June the ~irst time. That is

Go ahead.

o~ us.

testi~ied here for the people, and

r Honor, that he came dOVID here on the

that he vrent over and saw Ortie Mc-

to your Hono~'s attention, to set you

him right.

counsel thinks, but certainly he cannot think

Now, then, o~ course, I don,t know anything

27th day o~ June,

for me no

very uneasy, ~Yanped·up, he says, 'God, truth

you haye got to get him to come aeras s.' It

that conversation occurred on the 30th day

walked backwards and fowards on t he floor a

three days testified that the

first day that he came h e he had no particular conversa-

tion with yr Darrow; thesecond day when he came

here, which would be about e 28th, the second or third
~

day, he had a conversation wi t yr Darrow at the Higgins

BUilding, that he went down and w Ortie McManigal, that

he c mne back and ow. after seeing Orti e

Mc1lanigal on the 30th day o~ June, he said to him,

I1l cannot do anything with OrtieMcl.{ . al 1t , and that Mr

Darrow says -- 1tl said to him, the boy s stUbborn, I said

he had not going to come across and Yr up an

Mnnigal on the 30th

lJR APPEL:

5 :MR APPEL:

1

2

3

6 right, tmd

7 THE COURI':

4 THE COUt[': Just a moment. lwant to look at the record.

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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C
I
I
I
C

4
4
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I

I

on Chic8g(ll). I don't

and Vie propos to shoVl that on that

of June» all of the day that Mr Davie

C &J1 e down to the

Imn't go to Chicago.

2280.

day,

titles you to it.

prove, and you are trying to

lfR KEETCH: I asked counsel for the pege, lmd he gave me" .2268, rod that relates to a conversation in Chicago.
\

\
THE COURT: The conversation referred to is on page

1!R APPEL:

and .t bat Mr D~rrow did not say anything of the kind.

Nowhere has Mr ehm said here in this particular conver­

sation that h8\S alone with Darrow; we not only propose

to show by ]Ir Dav, that he was there ];X' esent at that

conversation, 'but 'We propo se to show that oth ers were

there present at et~r conversations with Mr Behm, after

Davis 1 aft there -- ~\ that no sue h statement" :vas made

at eit rer of those convarsations with Jlfr Darrow.
. \.

THE CaURI': With th at 0 ~r on your part, I think that en-
\ -

\ ..
llR .APP:EL: Here is the test~y, page 2280.

lffi FREDERICKS: That does not. ~titIe him to the question

before us. He is arguing anothe\matter.

1m .APP:EL: I an trying to ~gue t t, I am trying to dis-

1-------------------------------,

.
5528

1

Higgins BUilding and

3

1

2

4 vvas \"'d th 1l' Darrow at al~ conversations wtth that man,

20 knOVT anything about Chic ego.

21 THE COURT: I think it does.

22

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

23

24

25

26
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to page 2280, that is en entirely

court ind-q1!ge us to hare the ques-

tion read?

different matter.
;

l\fR FREDERICKS: Will t

1

2

3

4

5 THE COURT: yes.

6." -·TP.i·~REI,ORTER: ·-yr-&rlth-h;;-th-; question.

~
C
~•..
c
rr
I
C

4

•t,,
t

•

this time and place and circumstance and the persons pr~

sent.

question was that he was there s averal times that he came

to see Ortie l{cManigaI.

Q Now, after t ret, on the day that he reported that, were

you present there in the Higgins BUilding with ur Darrow,

and did Ur Darrow say to him, IIGod, truth or no truth,

you have got to get him to come across", or words to ~bat

effect or in sUbstance?

MR FREDERICKS: That is obj ECted to on the ground no foun­

dation has been laid. Mr Davis' reply to the previous

back from the jail.

M'R APPEL: I can only take one at a time •

};rR FREDERICKS: 1,fr Davis' attention ses not been drawn to

l{R APP:EL: I would put it in this vJ2Y, llr Davis. ])0 ;rou

remember being pr esent at any conversation after Georg e

Berum came here from Chicago? A I do.

Q In the Higgins Building after George Bebm -- ~nere he

repo rted he had been to see Orti e Ucllanigal.

A I rememb er he reported several times he h"ad been

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

. 24

25

26



1

2

3

llR FORD: And no

was present at

Mr Behm.

. 5530 I
foundation has been laid showing Mr Davis I

wer:," conversation between 1fr Darrow and

4 MR .APPEL: We have a right to put the defendant on th e

5 stand to show that at no time after 1!r Behm came home and

6 talked to Mr orti e McManigal t that he talked wi th him

7 alon e. He has a right to say wery time he talked with

8 him Nr Davis '\;~s present.

show he was not present alone.

MR APPEL: Read the question.

UR FORD: That is evidentl:y· an avowal they are going to

THE COURT: yes sir, that avowal has been made.

ltR APPEL: Never mind t tat, we have a right to shoW' that. I
A I think I remember the question, unless you want to rea~

it.

r
(
C
~..
III

(
r
rr
(

c
4
4,
•
t

Obj ection overruled..,IBE COUB". I think so.9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17 :M:R APPEL: yeS sir. A He did not.

18 Q He did not? A No sir.

19 Q Did 1fr Darrow at that conversation 0 r at any oth er men

20 you were pr esent, state to Mr George BebIn, referring to

21 Orti e 11cUanigal, "We ~sot to get him; "'fe got to.o; et him to

22 save the McNamara boys; to save the disgrace on his family,

23 and all you people, we have got to get him to come across "1

24 YR:rom: What pt€e is th at t pI ease?

25 1.fR FREDERICKS: That is obj ented to on the ground no

26 tion has been laid in that }Ir Behm n wer said myone else



THE COURT: Obj EC t iOD av errnled.

-

nobody present at all at that tim e, EOCcept :Mr Dafrow.
. . .

r
(
l
~•
IIIIl
(
rr
rc
4
C

•,
­,,

A No.

I am making my obj ectioD, that is all.

5~
ex:c ept himsel f at the time he had sue h conver- I

I

We obj ect to that on the ground no foundation

Obj retioD overruled•.
Are we bound by his t eetimony?

}{R APFEL:

l1R FORD:

was present

is laid for the asking of the question. that it does not

contradict the testimony given by Mr Behm or anyone else.

lfr Behmts testimony being ,line 8. pEge 2283, there was

liR APPFL:

THE COURT:

Q Di.d Mr Darrow in any of those conversations that you

were pr esent. say to George Bem that he, George Behm --

UR FORD: We would like the pege.

THE COURT: As to the foundation, I would like to have

that, l\{r Appel. I do Dotwant to rely on my memory.

:MR APPEL: You mean by ufoundation lt
• I have not cfalled at­

tention to the language, I suppose? Page 2283, commencing

with line 8,17, dOVI11 to the end of the page, line 26.

THE COURT: Qbj ec tion overruled.

MR APPEL: l'Iow, read the question.

A He did not.

Q Did he then, in a ddi tion to that. did Mr Darrow say in

addi tion to that, tryou have g~t to go back ~ain, George,

and see what you Cml do with him lt ?.

s ation.

:M'R FREDERICKS:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

I-



1

2

1!R FORD: What pege?

MR APPEL: Page 2285 - .. '~should keep going back

5532
1

i

3 there and vis~t UcUanig al as often as he could for fear he,

4 McManigal might \~aken and then did Mr Darrow say, "You

5 can get him that way", or words to that effect?

6 MR FREDERICKS: That is obj ected to on the ground no foun-

7 dation has been laid; that it does not serve to impeach

8 ~ of the testimony given by M'r :Behm, }Ir :BebIn having

9 expressly stat ed th at conversation occurred between him

10 and Mr Darrow alone.

11 THE COURT: Obj retion overmled.

12 JlR APPltA:.: You can s ee v;hy he said that. A He di d not.

13 Q, Did' heat that time or any oth er time between t.he

14 27th day of June, end th e tim e that Georg e :Behm was call-

15 ed before the Grand jury the first time, in your presence,

16 ct any conversation had betvreen you and Darrow and :Behm,

17 did Darrow say to him, "Keep going, keep him in good humor,

18 and fi you sa e any point s ,mere he is v.eakening towards

19 coming across at any tim e __ tI

201m FOlID: What pege?

21 lrR APPEL: 2286 -- or words to that effect?

22 MR FREDERICKS: That is obj ECted to

~
t
~•
,;i

cr
r
r
(

c
c
~

"",,

23 A No, -- Ettcuse me for answering before you obj rot.. .

24 UR FREDERICKS: All right. That is obj octed to as no foun-
. 25

26
dation laid in that it doee not impeach any testimony

given by George :Behm, George :Behm havingsaiithat such



Obj retion cyermled.

No, he did not.A

THE COURr:

5533
1

conversation occurred between him and Mr Darrow when t hey I
were alone) l.\nd the denial of this witness t hat he ever I

heard such conversations) would not serve to impeach l.{r I
I
I
I
I
i

Behm.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 luffi APPEL: Do you remember whether at any time wh en George

8 Behm made any statement to you in the p-esence of'Yr DaI'-

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

row, about his ha.ving taken the children somewhere in the

Vicinity of the jail) llcManigfll's childmn, and passing by

there --

MR FREDERICKS: We obj ~t to that as hearsay, immaterial.

1m APPEL: I am drawing his attention to a particular

conversation

l,m FREDERICKS: If it is merely preliminary, withdraw the
-

objection. I pt'esume it is a yetl or no question?

17 THE COUlRffi: All right.

18 A I remember him saying at one time, I wouldn't say

19 whet her Mr Darrow was t mrs pt' esent at th at tim e or not.

20 but he said at one time he Vlent dovm the street with a

21 little child beside him, the father saw him out of the­

22 window--

23 ]JR FREDERICKS: We move to strike out th e answer as

24 not responsive. That is a preliminary question that

2~
v should be answered yes or no.

26 THE COUR!.': Strike out the answer. You can &lswer the



7 ported th at fact, that is, BebIn having reported that fact?

8 A Well, as I understood the question it included myself

5~
positive whether I

I

I
I

I
I

A I would not be

I didn't understand that that v~s included

I asked if you rememb e red whethe r he having re-

Read that question fBain.

in th e question ..

A

Mr Darrow was present.

UR :FREDERICKS:

1m .APPEL:

3

4

5

6

1 I question yes or no.

2

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

and Jlr Darrow both. I remember his having reported the

fact, but wh ether or not Mr Darrow end I,;vere both tog eth­

er at that time, I don't know.

I
I
:
I
I
I

I
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time.

question.

MR • ArrET.,. 1 asked hirr1 tl'at question.

~
t,...
rfI,

Cd
f1
r
11
t
«
(
c
III..
"

Darrow was present.

boy, and di~ Darrow say, that is r ightt

and then he will cowe across. Did I
nJade by Darrow at that time or any

God Daam it, tease him

hollering to bring the

you hear my s ta ten:ent

otter time';

report was made by you--

~R. APPEL. Q Was anything said to him at the time the

A {,ir. Darrow never s2..id that to ;,il'. Bclm in my presence at any

THE COtlR T. Objection overruJ edt

referred to in the testirwny of Behm.

tion bas been laid for the asking of the question. Tvv'c

quee tions, hearsay and no foundation been laid for impeach­

menti l:ersons present, they are not the san,e as those

NcM::H).ig3.l say he didn't take the boy over to Bee his

father Md!anigal, J didn't pay any attention to McI'ITanigal's

MR. FREDEP.ICKS. Objected to upon the ground that no founda-

MR • FDRD. The ques tion is not fully answered. Ther e is

ana th er par t of th e ques tion no t answer ad: was :.1:. Darrow

TRErClJRT. 1 thcught he had. 1 th.Jugtt tre Witness said he

present wh~n the report--

MR. APPEL. Now, at that time, when he reported that fact,

w as .~t. Darrow present· and did !.:r. [arrow say to hin... -didn't

was not sure whetrer

MR. FORD. Objected. to upon the ground it is a compound

6
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5

6
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8
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1."e have ,1. I' igh t to

2 show :,Ir. Darrow as there.

3 TFF. COURT. Go ahead, th e ques tion is answered.

4 MR. FREDERICKS •. We call the Court's attention to the phrase

5 of our pbjecticn is this~ ;,ir. Behm never said that ,he nade

6 such a report to I. I~"
.'oU. ravie, and the impeaching question

7 there is--what this question is four.ded on was the talk

8 that Rehm had witt Darrow, according to 'tis statenlent.

9 Now, the mere fact that Behmmay have told that sanie thing

10 to Davis or a dozen others at another time and another

11 place, with other people present, or didn't tell it to them,

12 would net serye to impeach Fehm. Trey should be asked--
-

13 iiir; Davis cannot s?.y that he didn, t say this to \'tr. Darrow

14 ::..~nd i.~r. Darrow to Behm, if :::r. Jjivis w.:.s not there.

15 I THE COURT. TTnder the defendant's declaration of what 1:e

16 1 intends to do 1 think the evidence is corr,petent. It 'vill

17 be received upon that theory. Proceed. The question. has

18 been answered.

19 MR. APPE},. Q Do you l' emercesr whether or not in talk i ng

20 to li~r. McManigal or :.~r. Behm in your presence in respect to

21 his examination before the grand jury, do you remewber

22 wh ether or not i.ir. Dar l' OW s 2...id to Geor ge Behm, "now, Geor ge

23 you ain't afraid to go to jail, are you?" and George said,

24 "No, not unless it is nece sary," th?t is, 1'.8 'Nould not be

25 afr aid unl ossit was ne ces s ary. i're] l, he says, n;ean ing

26 :Carrow, "71 e are not going to let you go to jail if we can

~
(j

:I...
rf1,

G
f1
rr
t
(
(
C..
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"..
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1 possibly help it, but ',it. ~arro'iv said you may go to jail for

2 this, and did ;Ifr. Behm say, "1 don t t want to go to jail, look

3 kind of bad for rr;y folks back hOllle to go to jail for what 1

4 cagle eu t her e for," and did Darr ow say, "We 'N ill take car e 0

5 you; we will get you out of here if we have to carry it

"6 up to a higher court, or words to that effect, or ar:y such

7 talk as that when tal king to him about what he should tes tif

8 before the grand jury or not testify? A 1 don,t remember

9 Mr. Darrow ever having said so. 1 s aid to him myself, if

10 you 'IV an t to know wna t 1 S'3.i d •

11 Q, 1 want to know what :.:r. Darrow Eiaia. A I never beard

12 :.fr. Darrow ,say anything of Ue kind that 1 can remember. 1

13 know what 1 said to him in reference to it.

14 Q What did you say to him? A 1 said to him to refuse to

15 answer thos e ques t ions that we said to him, and if they

16 sent him ,to jail 1 would see ,that 1 got out a writ of

17 habeas corpus and got him out, if 1 poem bly could.

18 q D~ you or Mr. Darrow undertake or try or att"en:pt to drill

19 :,ir. Geerge Behm on questions they 'N er e going ,tq. ask him and

26 attempted to drill him or not.

20 drill him as to how he should answer any questi~ns except

21 those that you instructed him on to answer, "That don't

22 concern the case"?

23 MR. FREDF.P.ICKS. That is objected to upon the ground it is

24 irr,mater ia1 as to wh e th er th is \'j i tns88 at temp ted to dr ill

25 him o.r. not, and it is a co rolusion as to whether :':r. narrm
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t ion sus tained •

how. No',v, we go one better.

a sk me and how 1 should answer."

rHE COURT· That W3.S strickeCn out by the court upon your

Yes, 1 6 ee the1 will have to strike out my question.

TPE COURT. 1 assume you are not serious about that. Objec-

motion, following on there.

MIl • APPEL' VIe ask that we be allowed to contradict it any-

MR. APrEL. 1 don't know, if this is stricken out 1 guess

THE COUR T. Objection sustained ..

~rn. APrEL· We take an exception. We offer to contradict

the statement of the witness Rehm introduced here by the

brought in by the District Attorney in the following words:

"They undertook to d rill me on those questions .-ehey should

prosecution, which he made during the examination in direct,

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

121

13

14

151

MB. ArrET,. Yes.

to ancnver those questions we didn't trink were relevant

MR. FREDERICKS. Before the second ap.pearance'

His second appearance.MR. DABhOW

District Attorney here says "don't use that expression."

Q Did you at that meeting with ILr. Behm, d ii you ask iiir.

Fehmqqtlstions and then did I,::. Darrow suggest to Behrn LOW he

shOUld answer them?

MR 0 FORD. Now, this is tt.e conversatior: before ·the first

appearance of Behm before the grand jury?

A O.nly in the manner 1 have indicated, that he told him

16

17

18

19

20

2i

22

23

24

25

26
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Iby saying to the jury that he refused to answer them on

2 th e ground they bad no connec tion With the cas e, and 0 tter

3 questions he told him to answer without telling him how to

4 answer.

5 Q Did 1,;1'. Darrow in your presence the night before :iJr. Behm

6 was examined before the grand jury the secor..d day, did :,1::.

7 Darrow or yourself in your presence state to Behm, page 231g

8 "You answer those," meaning the questions, "all with the

to that effect, what he said in reference to tha~?

A 1 do n ,t r e memb er it.

24

25

26

9 exception of the question they ask you concerning what you

10 s aid to UcManigal, as to what anSYfer you got out of Mc-

11 Manigal, and what you told Mc~Tanieal, so that in the fall

121 term of court he, Darrow could use him for a 1Nitness against

13 McManiga1 1 s tes timony, 11 and did Darrow in tl:,a t conr,e~tion

14 say to him that those questions they would 2tsk him would be

15 just the same asthey had already asked him, and tbat he,

16 Behm, should fix it up in his own lltind the way he should

17 answer lD as to keep him, :carrow, out of trouble and him-

18 relf, and deny all questions asked of him about what he told

19 McManigal, and that he, Darrow, would do for him if he chang (

20 his testimony, or \Vords to that effect? A No.

21 Q Do you kr:ow whether or' not ;,!r. Behm at that conversation

22 s tated to you and If.r. narr O'fl v/he ther or net he des ir ed or

23 Wished that he h:~d McManigal in front of his engine,
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1 MR. FRFDERI CKS. Just a moment--l obj ect upon the

2 ground--

3 A 1 didn, t remember it anyhow, Ca.ptain.

4 MR. FREDER lCKS • Ai 1 r igh t •

5 riR. APPEL· You are acquainted with John R. Harringt2 n?

6

7

8

9

10 case, that right? A Pe was.

Q

Q

11

12

13
I

14 I
i

15 :
i

16 !

17

18

19

Q en the afternoon of the 28th day of November, 1911, that

being the day when Franklin was arrested in the nlorning of

that day, did you and Judge Cyrus McNutt see :Jr. parrington

over at ~is office in the Higgins BUilding? A We did,

on the day of the arr es t of ;,!r. Frankl in, whatever that day

was, but 1 think that was the 28th.

Wds that on the afternoon? A In the afternoon. .

Did or did not :::r. Earr ington say to you and ~~~-~:--;~-;J~~~}
'\.

you three being present, that he was satisfied tbat there

20 was no foundation for any charges of bribery against any

21 one connec ted with the cas e, ~b at he had known Darrow for

22 years and had been closely associated With him during all

23 0 f th e C d ;-3 e and pad never aeen th e a1 igh tes t suspic io'Uta

24 th ing connected wi thany br ibery or any corrupt practice, or

25 words to that effect, in connection wi th the case, and til

26 he was sure t1:at no one conr.ectedwith



5541

1 to do with the bribery or with any illegal act either in

2 connecticn with jurors or witnesses 01' with anymatter

In SUbstance, yes, sir.A

In substance that.A

He said so?

connected with the case, or words to that effect or in sub-

/1.,","-~~-----'L_'_I
stance?

25

15 I
I
I

16 !

13

14

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11
I

12 j

26



is working.

A I do.

Q Do you remember any report being brought to you in

having hearcit of a wi tness by t he name of Di ekelman?

I met him

Do you remember, during the preparation of th e case

A Frequent ly.

Did he consult you about the case, or did you consultQ

Q

elsewhere when I would not see him for a day or tvro, such

an acquaintance 8S a man would have with one with whom. he

the trial, sometimes he wouldbe" away at San Francisco or

h · ?J.m •

probably every day for a short time during t.h e cou rae of

what intimate' conn ootion is, 0 r rcquain tmlC e.

ct I will ask you whether or not at that time you had :::: I
very intimately a::quainted withMr Harrington, that is, hW-1

ing met him often in the place? A A relative tenn of

I
I

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16 referenc e to that witness Diekelman? A I do.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Q Do you remember havi ng heard a report being brought to

you concerning the quality and character of his testimony,

that he might be able to give in referenc e to the case?

A yes sir.

Q Di d you then find out in .any way, whe re th e wi tn es s

was?

MR FORD: We obj act to that as calling for hearsay, and

no foundation laid, showing from vhom the report came or

whether itwas a written or ~erbal report, or the

it.



I
i·

here. we

the last question an d I will explaim

Hono r.

or no.

It calls for an answer yas or no. Answer

At that tine or subsequently to that time?

Whether he found out or not "euld be in th e re-

and it is giving the substanc e of the re­

p.iXt.-Qo:p-e-po-Tt'±'oJrrlo5:f the substanc e.

MR APPEL:

the point

THE COURT:

for the substance.

MR FORD: Please

j eo t t your Hono r.

1fR APPEL: Not at all.

1...fR FORD: P.rdon me. Zhe 'fay he asks it whether in form

or not. the substanc e t e is doing that.

THE COURT: He has cl rified it by saying he is not asldng

THE COURr: preliminary?

MR APPEL: We 'do not introducee hearsay ev;o dence

go up to the main issue or point.//

THE COURr: It is preliminary? ,

1m APPEL: It is laying the foundation.

1ffi FOBD: He is asking now for the substanc e of th e report.

1m APPllL: It is simp~· Ie ading up to1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

I
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2

3

A At that time t that same report, I learned where

viitn ess was suppa sed to be.

Q Where. ms he suppo sed to be?

I

,
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1

the I

I I

it.

lJ[R FOED:

7

8

24

10

21

13

20

18

17

16

22

19

25

23

4 l.m~,:--We'-objeo1; to t let all the Brouildne--~~
~ !

5 has been laid showing from whom this report was; e0ar
/

as we know at the }resent time, it is purely hea:rsa.v, and
/

there is no foundation laid mOWing wh~ther /' report

is a vJI'itten report or in existence or no~

9 1m APPEL: I do not care whether it is w1'i'tten or oral.
/

Therefore, calling for secondarywidence, if it.
/

11 was a \vritten report, andVv'e are e,ttled to lmow these

12 things, in or der that we may frap{e our obj rotions properly,

If we then have any, after th11;reliminary questions have
. J

14 b een ~ked leading up to i t,/ Here is a wi tness who
/

15 says he Ie 8rned fran a repo rt certain things; he just now
/

stated he learned from/the report itself, whdI!e the wit-

ness Vlas, end we are/~ntitled to know what is in that re­
,I'

port, where t~at/eport came from, so ttat \lVO can meet

th e sit:uation. / . .
/

MR APPEL: Itl doesn't make 8!\V differenc e how he learned

,//
• ,I

/
1D:R FORD21 So that we can decide for ourselves Wll ether or

/
not '.va want to believe th e wi tness on t tat point, whether

/
there was such a report, or not.

I -_
/

yR APPEL: Whether you1:lelieve the witness is immaterial.

26~ F~~: .JI~b~O that on the ground it is incomp~
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become of it.

that vd tness and protecting him, .

report~
, .

offer to show what action he took with

I offer to sho'., by the witness that he learned

~tness ,~s supposed to be -

I
t ~' immaterialan~irrelevant; calling for hears~; no

foundation laid for the introduction of the con tents of

that \eport, until after it has been shown what the re-

8 MR APFEL:

9 referenc e

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 MR FORD:

10 getting .him aNay fr th e Burns .Agency; I prOJlose to show

11 that the insinuations of the District Attorney con-

12 eerning this ·wi tness, concerning the action

13 of Mr Darrow with r eferenc e to t hat witness, was a mat-

14 ter "v\hich was iniittated by someone else exc ept Mr Darrow,

26 THE COURT: The obj 00 t ion is CN erruled. Answer the

ilbg h.ewas in Albuquerque by their own witnesses.

y written docu-

eing interrogated on

othing wrong about it.

It seems to me puerile t when th tV have

as far as \m know -- because at the present

a rig ht to msume --

mente

any written documents or the

1m ROGERS:

1fR APPEL: We are not asl:ing him about

1t.rRFOlID: Until the document has

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

15 and why it"vas done. There

16 I want to show that.

17 UR FORD: We obj rot to
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(Q,uestion read.)

A ~~1hk, New Me xico.

MR APPEL: NoVl. upon learning that, -- what other facts

in connection wi th his being in Albuquerque, di d you loom

cone erning that VIi tness?

1

2

3

4

5

6

tion. A Read the question.

7 1lR FORD: What is the question?

8 (Last question read. )

9 1fR FORD: From t his report?

10 .UR ROGEBS: We are not talking about a report.

11 MR FORD: We obj rot to that on the ground it is hearSay,

t ered t here under the name or Brice, that the

-
calling for the contents of a written report without B:Ehibi

ing the report to us; no foundation laid.

THE COURT: Obj ection overruled.

A Well, I wOllldhave to tell the whole report in or~r ,_

to tell you what it was. {' I
i
'\/

'MR APPEL: (}O ahead. A one morning 1fr Darrow took me -- '

I went aver to the ofi'ic e, and he took me into his room

wh ere was sam e5entleman that ran a boarding house -- what

his name was, I don,t know, but yr DarroVl says, nThis

gentleman has reported tome there is a witness by the

name if Diekelman, v/ho roomed at his house until a short

time egon, and that Diekelman was a clerk in on e of the

hotels here in the city of Los .Angeles, that he had been

to see .Tim -- and that .Tim McNamara \vas said to have regis-

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

12

13
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8
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been to see Mr },fcNamara, .Tames McNamara, and said hewss I

not the man who had registered under the name of Brice, I

that one of ].{r Bums' detectives had taken him from the j /

boarding· house and taken him to .Albuqueraue, New Mexico, )I
and that, as I understood him to say, he had just learned ali

. /i
• I

few days before that l{r Diekelman was at Albuquerque, \j li I
-r-i-'--! ~ -

-----~/ r I
I

(

I

I '
I

I
!
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us in the office was the truth.

this court for the trial.

was a brother -in-law of :!.r. Darrow.

I

NOVI, was Hanm;erstrom instructsd by you and by ~,~r. Darrow t

•
where--in Chicago or eJsewhere, and to see that that man

Q Who, if ar.y one, gave any instructions to H'imrrerstrom?

A *think both' crus did.

Q What instructinns were given to him by both of you?

I

, I

and if it was true Lto get the mar • ~ I

Q Get. the witness1. A ~et the witness and see tr.a~--~-·e-- I"--Ij

keep the witness out of the jur isdicticn of tr.is court?

A Pe was instructed to bring hinl in the jurisdiction of

A My recollection is we were in the trial then. 1 wont

would be her e at the tr iaJ, if the s tory that the ltan tol d

A To go tbere and ascertain the truth of this report- that

was lLade to us by this gentleman who ran the boarding house

Q How long was this befora the trial, ;lir. Davis?

be sure whether we had begun the trial or wh~~~~~

was here at the trial, to get the witness and to see that he

was here for the trial, to get him a po~ition there or else-

p 1

2

3

4

5

6
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1 but it was son.etime dur ing the course of tee time 1
. 554l
was

2 connected with the defense.

3 Q What you mean by having him here for the trial was

4 I after the-- . A At the time we needed him.

5 Q, You needed him to produce the testimony in court?

6 A Totest ify, yes, 6 ir •

7 Q That per icd of time never came through? A ~,Jever came

8 through.

9 TPE COURT. r,entlen';en of the jury ,·bear in mind the former

10 admoni t ion of th e cour t. We wi 11 take a reces s for ten

11 flJinu tea.

s 12 (After recess)

13 7FE COURT' ]eady to proce~.:d, ~en tlemen?

14 MR. APPEL, M:. na-gis, are you acquainted with Bert H. Frankr

15 1 in? A v es, s ir •

16 Q, How long have you kr.own :f.r. Franklin? A Oh, a great n:any

17 years, :.lr. Appel. 1 couldn,t give youWithir. 5 or '6 years ..

18 Q During the ti~ that :t:. F!'~anklir. was employed here in

19 ass is ting the Darrow defense, the preparation of the cas e you

20 niay--the McNamara case, do you remenber whether or not '.::

21 Franklin consulted with you and the other attorneys inthe

22 case? A Daily.

MdJamaras in referer.ce to consultation with :,:r. Fr'anklin co

~ In referBnce to the impaneln:ent of the jury, what was the I

custom or the pra~tice or the rule followed by you andM~

Darrow and the other attorr.eys inthe case appe~!ring for the

23

24



1 cerning each juror as to whetter he should be

.555To
allowed or

2 kept on the jury or not? A We first consulted his

3 report on the jury in a book tha t VI e had, then we also

4 asked him if he had learned anything subs equent concerning

5 that juror. If he knew any reason why we should let him go

6 or any reason why he thought we shaul d keep h in..

7 Q Do you know whe t1-'er or not he made spec ial r epor ts on

8 jurors from time to time as he learned f:l.cts or no~?

9 A Man7{ times tbere were a gree,t many jurors th:::.t ljis

10 report to us showed were absent when he went to sce them or

11 other persons went to see them for him, our report would.

12 simply show absent, out of the country or out of the county,

13 and When the panel was issued by the court and 1,ye fourxi them

14 on the lis t, why, we cons ul ted him and told him to nak e a

15 report upon that juror, we saw by the retur n he -was here

16 now.

17 Q Well, where you had reports already on the juror or

18 jurors or any par ticular juror, do you r emen,ber whether or
were

19 r~ot there \fany reports required of him or not?

20 A yes.

21 Q ~TOW , t . . t I;.,r. Davis, do you remen:ber whether or no you V1Sl ed I

22 Franklin at his office onthe afternoon of tte 28th day of

23 ~T ov ember, 1911? A 1 don t remember of Visiting him at his,

26 28th cf you and. Ur. r;arrovi Visiting him in oompany with

24 office. 1 remember visiting him at the jail.

25 Q Do you remember at any tinie aft'er tis arrest, after tbe
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1 McNutt or without the presence of Judge McNutt at his

2 office? A yes.

3 Q Can you state whether or not Mrs. Franklin was presIel!:lj';,

4 1 mean-- A .~ Mrs Franklin was present?

5 Q yes. A 1 wouldn't be sure whether Mrs Fr3I1klin was

6 in the room or not. She was there around the office some-

7 wher e.

a fter asking him how he felt, did ;,1r. Darrow ask:llr. Frank-

lin if he, Franklin, felt sore at :.:r. harrow? A No.·

A Yes.

Fr an kl in over a. t theDavis, did you go to see

Did :,ir. Darr ow at tha t conver sat ion say to ;,rr. F.r ankl in,

r.:r. DarroVl?:.as present, was he not?
1 '_ l/.

Q

8 'Q

Q
9

10

11

12 I

13

14 jail? A At what time?

15 lnlnediately after his arrest or shortly after··that, the

16 28th? A In the early part of the afternoon, yes, sir.

17 Q Was that visit to :\~rO Franklin before or after you arid

18 JUdgtr McNutt saw ;,:r. Harr ington at the Higgins Build irg?

19 A Tha twas be for e •

20 Quow did you happen to go to see ;,11'. Frankl in, \11'. Davis,

21 at th e j ai I ? A In response to a telephone or message that i

22 werec e i v e d at th e 0 f f ice •

23 Q. Which office? A ;.:r. Darrow's office in the Higgins

24 building.

Q :Co you remerr:ber froni whom that telephone was?

from Mrs. Franklin.

A Repor t; d
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1 Q r t was r epor ted from Mrs. Franklin?

2 MR • FORD it was. reported that it was from Mrs. Franklin "/

3 MR. APPEL. 1 say that it was reported that it was from

4' !t·r s. Fr en kl in • That is, reported there at the office of

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Mr. Darrow to you and ;!.r. Darrow? A Yes, 8 ir , and was

reported that way when we came into the office,. shortly

afternoon, and then while we were sitting there talking the

telephone rang and ).1r. Darrow answered the telephone and 1

know that he reported to me what was said to him and then

we went over.
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Q To the jail? A I went over to the jail -- no, VIe went I

OV.er first, to l,fr Franklin's office, and lirs Frmklin was I
there.

I

1

2

3

4

5 should go ove~ and see Mr Franklin? A yes.

6

7

Q

Q

BY ~rs Franklin? A Mrs Franklin.

Now, when you yrent over to the jail, and saw Ur Franklin

8 do you remember whether or not at that conversation at

9 that meeting you said, "Well, Bert, how are youfee11ng?"

10 Did you say to him, ",Don't worry, a complaint will be 1s-

11 sued and we will get you out on bailor on bond", or words

12 to that effe~t? A Mr Appel, I think that whatever

13 conversation t bat I had there with J.Jr Franklin is a ques-

question.

tion between myself and Ur Franklin. H8 is still on ti'ial­

he is not on trial, but there is still a complaint ~ainst

him in this court, and I don,t think I should answer that

Q Now, when did you -- did you furnish bail for Mr

Thompson? A I did.

Q Now, before you furnished the bail, did you report to

Ur Darrov7 what, if anything, had been said by 1,{r Franklin

dO\m to the j ail? A I told him the substance of the

conversation I had had vdth yr'Franklin.

In connection with the question of furnishing bail,--------.-A - I said \,\;
Q

..."hat, .if anything, did you say to llr Derrow?

to ],{r Darrow,' I didn't think ]lr Franklin was guilty.

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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1

2

3

4

5

that Franklin desired me to go on -- see if I coul dget him

some bondsmen, and I told J.Jr Darrovv that I was willing

to. goon his bond, and spoke with JUdge llcNutt about it.

He was t here present at the time, and JUdge lfcNutt said

he conldn' t go on account of his \rlfe, the prore rty being

6' in his 'wife's name. Then I suggested .to Mr Darrow that if

I

or I

I
i

.1

A I wou]dn' t be sure; I think

About what time of the day did you get him out, more

Q

Q

less, as n ear as youcan?

0' clock, by the tim e it was all don e.

Q Now, after his arrest, and upon the next day, do

you remember haVing met Mr Franklin and J.rr Daf'row together

ct ur Darrow's o:ffic e? A yes.

Q vr.aa t ~re 8I:\).'"thing said by ur DarrO\7 then, at that

conversation to yr Franklin in re:ference to the effect

He gave me a chrok and I went and put it up. " r .'
""", :-_ _.._._---~

Put up the cash, didn't you? .A I did. --~

tt ves set for 2 o'Clock, and went over there anal! he was

not pr esent. We wai ted for a considerable time and ~{r

Ford came over, and with rome gentleman went do'l.vn in an

automobil e and bronght Mr Franklin up to the court.

Must h&V'e been in the neighborhood o:f 3 or hal:f past 3

there was enot1gh money in the fund -- of the defense

fund, tilat we should put -- let me have it, and if he

'\vanted me to, I would guarantee him for any loss against

it, and l1.e said he didn,t need any guarantee, if I said

that I\V8S satisfied about the matter go ahead, put it up.

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17
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that Mr Franklin's arrest upon Mr pranklin's wife and

family as to how they took it, and as to how the arrest

affected the friends of Mr Franklin, if you remember?

MR FORD: Obj'ected to YtPon the~round that it is :eBding

and suggestive. I think the best way is to let this wit­

ness tell \vhat occurred, if anything, v.nat conversation

was had, and then if he is through, he has stated that is

all the conversation, perhaps it is admissible for c oun sal 0

to put these other questions. I think at the present

time the court should not permit a leading and sugges-

tive qaestion until the witness has exhausted his memory

on the matter.

THE COUHIJ.': Obj ootion OJ erruled.

A Nothing of that kind that I remember, sir.

:MR FREDERICKS: This \VIlS a conversation the next day efter

the arrest?

1m APPEL: Yes.

Q Did you, on the day of lfr Franklin's arrest or before

his arrest or after his arrest, receive any telephone mes­

sage from anyone informing you that Ur Franklin \vas about

to get in trouble? A I did not.

Q Did you phone to Mr Darrow on th e morning of the 28th

or say to him that you had received a telephone message

that Franklinw8s about to get into trOUble, and that he,

Darrqw, had better notify him? A I did not.

Q Now, after the preliminary exanination of M'r



v.hich Ur Darrow or you s aid that arrangements could be

to one count in the attempt to bribe George W. Lockwood,

made or had be en made for him, Franklin, to 1'1 sad guilty

and that he, Franklin, would be fined $500,0, which you or

Darrow or the defense would pay, and that he, Franklin,

would be furnished, for the prot ection of his family

until he could rebuild himself in the community, the sum

5~
you and llr Darrow b eiI\<l pr es ent, di d you hare any C onver- I
sation with Mr Franklin in the p:esence ofMr Darrow, in I·
the Higgins BUilding, at the office of Mr Darrow, in '

I

I

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11 of $3000 or any 'Nords to that effect? A No.

12 UR FREDEPJ:CKS: We obj ~t to th at -- A Excuse me.

131m FREDERICKS: Obj ~t to that on th e ground the proper

14 foundation is not laid as to the place.

15 A I understood him to say the p.iggins Building.

The foundation that is laid in Mr Frank-

lin's question was yr Davis' office, as I understand it.

MR APPEL: No si r •

THE COURT: \Vhat is the page?

UR APPEL: The matter commences at p~e 586, your Honor,

line 1'7. Now, there he states a conversation, then, your

Rono r, on page 58'7, he continues that conversationt at

the bottom of the p~e, then the next time, at pzge 588

and when and where -- "Well, now, ·the first time that

matter· was broacllErl by .th e defendant, when was that and

MR FREDERICKS:
16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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1

where? A -- At his 0 trice, t.o the best of my recoIl ec- I·

tion, in the Higgins BUilding. Q -- Was it before or af- I

3 ter your preliminary examination? A -- It v..es after my

4 prelimina~ examination."

5 1m FRFJ) ERICKS: But, doesn't that refer to conversation

6 between Yr Darrow and yr Franklin alone?

7 MR APPEL: No sir. Now, wai t a moment. ItQ -- 1lbout how

8 long after the second one? A -- I should say it v.us a mat-

9 ter of two weeks, or three, perhaps. Q -- .At what place?

10 A -- His 0 fiic e in the Higgins BUilding. Q -- VVho els e

11 was present besides yourself and he, if anyone? A -- Mr
,

12 Davis. 1t

13 UR FREDERICKS: I withdraw the obj action. lIy memory was

14 defective.

15 !HB COURT: The obj a:tion is ....vi thdravm. /nsy/er the ques-

16 tion.

17 A Ifo.

18 MR APPEL: D~d Mr Darrow make such a stat ement at aI:\Y time

19 or place in your presence, to 1lr Franklin? A He did not.

20 Q Did you ever make any such statement to 1fr Franklin,

21 either in the presence of:M.'r Darrow or not? A No.

22 Q Did you -- A I will modifY that to a certain ext ent.

23 There was something at one time. said to him about pI eading

24 guilty, but nothing about paying a fine of $3500.

25 Q That was in conversation bet\'1een you and Mr Franklin

26 alon e? A yes.



5558

tha, t had in the pr~sence fon:r. Darrow? A Never at any time.

Q Did he, in the presence of :,~ra Darrow, ask you at that

time what would be the best procedure in case the District
~

Attorney did not accept it, and did you say then to him J
I

:that you would not concede your defes.t along that line, th'lt ]
I

presence of :.ir. Frankl in? A No, sir.

turn to Ilif. Darrow and say to 1ir. Darrow, "l'4-r. Darro"liT, we wi Jl

was such a conversation as

Q 1 nean when :::'r~ I1irrowwas present. DJid you at that time 0

any other time say to :!,r. Frankl in that you had ser i::)Us doubt

as to whether your plans for Franklin's pleas of gUilty and

fine would be accepted by the Distr ict Attorney? A :~r. Appe

that rr,atter, anything 1 sa.id to ;,~r. Franklin or :;:1'. Franklin

said to me in the presence of Mr. Darrow or any third person

1 do not object to answering-­

Q 1 am going to ask you that.

you were-going to do everythir..g you could to get Franklin

o~t on a plea, but in case that could not be done, th~

in y'::Jur opinion it would be better if arrangemen.' ts could

be made that he, Fronklin, should enter a plea of guilty and

ask for probation, and did yeu then, at that co~versation ,

agree if that t3.kes place to give the surr· that he would

have been fined, namely ~5,OOO, together with $3,000 pro­

mised before~ and that y.:::.u further said, "won,t we, :,1r.

Darrow, lt or words to that effect? A No, 1 never had any

c-=-ntrol over the 'defense t'unds whatever of e.ny kind.

Q Rid you make any such propositi"cn to :,;r. Darrow in the

IIp 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
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1 Q, Did you ever make such a propes i tien as that to

2 Franklin at any time or place? A As 1 have said before,

3 any conversation 1 have had wi th :,h·. Franklin, 1 think,

4 outside of the presence of:,~r. Darrow, With reference to

5 giving hiffi any money or furnishing him any money, never at

6 any time.

7 Q That is wh3.t 1 want. Did ;·(.r. Frankl~n at that time, in th

8 pr es enc e of :":1'. Darrow and yours:elf, Bay that Vv' i th Mr. Gage

9 as his counsel, that he had absolutely no fear of convic-

10 tion and he was ready to go to trial at any time, and did

11 you then ,respond that you would look into' the matter and

12 let him know at a later date, or words to that effect, in

13 the pr es enc e 0 f ;,:1'. Darrow? A No.

14 Q NoW, 1 have asked you concerning conversations of

15 Frankl in after the two pr e1 iminary examina tLns that he had.

16 Now, carrying you along to the Sund.a~ the 14th day of Jan­

17 uary, lS12, I Vi ill ask yet: whether or not yeu rerLember

18 having met ;,!r. Franklin by previous appointment bad with

19 yeu the day before, in some office--at your office, in :.:1'.

20 Rush's room, When i,'lr.narrow was present?

21 A Yes, 1 reILer,.ber th at conv arsa tion •

22 Q. You ren,en,ber how or in what manner or what brought :.:r.

23 Darro\'! there to the office at that consultation'? A 1 did.

24 Q At whose invi tation was it'? A My own.

25 Q On that day, on the 14th day of January, lS12, you may

26 s tate whether or not :.:r. Franklin and :,:r. Darrow discussed
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1 your presence the possibility of :~:. Franklin being sent to

2 the penitentiary. A We had a conversation there about his

3 case. 1 don't know that there was any discussion as to the

4 p08sibiJ ity of his being sent to the penitertiary.

5 Q Was tbere :mything s:J.id at ttat time by you or;,:r. Darrow

6 or by both of you or by either of y:)u to ;.~r.Franklin as to

7 what kind of a statement Mr. Franklin should make to llir. Fcrd

8 concerning his connection with the bribery of jurorsr

9 A There was not.

10 Q Did ;/lr. Darrow suggest at that time to '.~r. Franklin that

11

12

13

he, Franklin, should say that the money be had used to bribe

jurors was ,obtained by him a third party or from a party

from San Franc isco or any words to that effect? A No. _---.~---._. __ ..~~~_._----

14 Q Did you at that time--

15 ME. DAFPOW. Just a moment--read that question.

16 (Last question read by the reporter. )

17 MR. ArrEL. Q Did you in ttat convers~tion'say in the

18 pres ence of Franklin and in the presence of :.11'. Darrow tl:a t

19 if he, Franklin, could convince :.:1" Ford that there had been

20 ana ther par ty viho .acta d as a go-between, between \lr. Darr ow

21 and Fnnklin, and th=-,t if he, Franklin would give a des-

con:pl ic i ty, for th e r eas on that it \voould. leave hin: en-

cription of that ilian, and where this man claimed to be
that

from and tte nawe/ " ttis n:an gave him, that is, to Franklin,

that Eor~ might believe a statement of ttat kind, and would

relieve Franklin a great deal and reJ ieve :,~r. Darro'."l from any

22

23

24

25

26
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1 tirely out of the matter, or words to that effect? Did

2 you make any such SUff-estion? A No, nothing like that,

3 especially the latter part.

4 I Q And then.d id l,fr. Frankl in say to you that Ford would never

5 believe a story of that kind, and that it would be the same

6 old story of the boy stealing a bicycle and saying he

7 bought it from somebody and didn t t knov who it was, or words

8 to that effect or in substance? A No, he did not.
. or place

9 Q Did you at any time /sugges t any such thing to :vlr. Fr ankl in'?

10 A No, sir, never at any time or at any place.

11 Q. Then didn It Mr. Darrow speak and say, "If you n:ention my

12 name 1 want you also to teJl what you know about Job

13 Parriman?" A No, that was not what he said.

14 Q What did ;,ir. I'arrow say--'.'lai t a moment, 1 will ask you

15 afterwards, 1 know ',';here that comes in. Did ;,!lr. Franklin

16

17

18

there in the pr 8S en~e of ;~Ir • Darro'N say to you that if y,::,u

could assure him tha t he would not get over tNo years in

the penitentiary that he would plead guilty and say noth ing,

19 and did you then serf to him, "lwtll let you know in a day

20 0 r tw 0 ? " A No.

21 Q, Now, :';r. Davis, you mayS'tate now what if ::lny conv9rsaion

22 you and :,i,', Darrow and :Jr. Franklin had there on that day,

23

24

25

26
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1 A Ur Franklin ct'ame up to th e 0 ffice and Mr Darrow and I

2 were in the office, and we \rent into Mr Rush's room and

3 had a conversation. lrr Franklin said th at Colonel Tom

4 Johnston had come to him from ],{r Ford and made the propo­

5 si tion tre t if 1'1 e, Franklin, woul d come through vii th what
\.

answer to Mr Ford, and to tell 1{r Ford if he wants to see

ing eboutit and had nothing to do with it, and that 1'1 e

conversation with referenc e to Job Harriman that Vvas had.
i

by J,{r Franklin and ur Darrow, and Mr Franklin said, "I told II

the COlonel that I would not. That Mr Darrow knew noth- I

I
I
I

I

had been the best friend I wer had, and to return that

me to come to my office. 1f No\v, that was exactly what

Ur Franklin said.

Q Do you remember whet her or not in that statement l[r

Franklin did say or not that he had told Colonel Johnson

that if he was to s~ anything ~ainst l{r Darrow concer

bribery of any jurors, that he, Darrow, kne\v anything26

6 he knew egainst l.fr Darrow, that they would let him pI ead
I

7 guilty and pay his fine out of the money that had been

8 taken from Mr Franklin at the tim e 0 f hi s arrest, and 1{r

9 Darrow spoke up and said, "Well, w~ do they v~t me any

10 more than they do Job, or any of the other attorn~.rs?"

11 Mr Franklin said, nWait a minute", 2nd he said, "Colonel

12 Johnston said that Mr Ford said that if you know anything

13 about any other local men that you c an keep your mouth

14 shut; that we are after Mr Darrow." Now, that was the

15

25
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that he was a God damned liar if he said so?"

I don,t knOVl that he used the words, "God damned liar",

3 but he said that he told COolonel Johnston he was not going

4 to tell a lie about it, and he would not say that yr Dar-

5 row had anythine to do with it whEn he had not. That was

6 the statement he made at that time in the presence ofJlr

7 Darrow.

8 Q Did you the next day after the arrest of l.fr Franklin,

9 a day or two following his arrest, or the n ex:t day after

10 his arrest, did you go to yr Franklin's office end say

11 to him th at you had made arrangements or ettempted to

12 malee arrangements wh ereby he coul d pI ead gUilty to at tempt

13 to bribe juror Lockwood, and that that would mean a fine

14 of $5000 or on e y tar in the penitentiary tor both, and

15 that you thought that you could get him off with a fine?

Q The wi tn es s himself has testified to that. A What?
finish

Q, 1fr Franklin -- I will : the question -- and that

"you thought you could get him off with a fine, and that

you would work to that end, and that you would see that

A That question, 1fr Appel, I refuse to answer.

he would be paid a sufia.cient SUIn, t hat you th En men­

tioned $1000 at that time, and that he could have some­

thing to live on until ,he had lived dovm what he had done.

This being the conversation testified to by Mr Franklin at

page 815 of volume 10? A I did not.

Q Or that in SUbstance or effect? A No.
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llR APPEL: There are several not es I have h ere, and I want

to get at the important ones; that is the reason I am.

looking over this.

Q Do you .remember whet her or not }J[r Franklin had aIlY'

conversation with you in referenc e to wh ether qr not Juror

Loc~Nood had come over to his office and solicited a bribe

from him?

MR FREDERICKS: We obj e::t to that on the ground it would be

hearsay and no foundation has been laid for it.

A I c oul d not answer tha t anyhQ'llv, lifr Appel, unl essit

was placed in the presenc e of some third party.

MR APPEJ: You obj oot to answering it, do you? A Yes,

unless you were to state in the presence of some person.

Q Mr Franklin stated this: "Q -- Did you not say a~­

thing to Mr Davis as to wh ether you had done it or not,

and what cirdumstances were surrounding it? A ~- That is

not what you asked me for; you asked me what }J[r Davis had

said. Q -- What did you say? I did ask you if you did

have any conversation. A -~ I told Mr Davis he _11 Refer­

ring back:oseveral questirms, tlhe, LockWood, had come to my

office and solicited a bribe." A I have not anything to

say about that.

Q Did he tell you that when Mr Lockwood came to his of-.

fice to solicit a bribe, that his wife and daughter --

his daughter and son, he not being sure which one itwas

was present?
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1 1<fR FREDERICKS: We obj act to that as irrelevant and imma-

2 terial, no foundation laid, hearsay.

3 lfR APPEL: ur Franklin testifies, your Honor, p~e

4 821 -- A. I refus e to answer it arwhow, Mr Appel.

5 lfR APFEL: -- ]Jr Davis asked who was there --

6 privilege~ question.

7 1m APFEL: Wait a minute. "lfr Davis asked who "lt6S there--"

8 :MR FREDERICKS: If Franklin atmitted it, it certainly is

9 immaterial.

10 THE COURI': 821, what line?

11 MR APPEL: yes sir, line 19.

12 MR FORD: The time, place, and p3 rsons present must noW'

13 be put into therecord, your Honor.

14 ltR APE: This is an old story, and I am tired 0 f hearing

15 that. I have a right to take the testimony of' Franklin

16 and ask ·whether it is true err not.· A Well, Mr .App e1--

17 MR APPEL! I am not saying whether you should or should

18

19

20

not answer, but I am asking you, asking you this question,

quoting the language of' Mr Franklin at p~e 821, of' volume

10, commencing ....11 th line 19 --

21 1m FORD: There is no contention it is incorrect as to lan-

gUl.\ge --

MR APPEL: Your Honor, I insist on being allowecito ask

22

23

24

25

26

my questions •
...

THE COURl'! yes, go right· ahead.



5566

pending upon which tre court h as not ruled and for some

13pl '. MR. FREDERICKS.

2
Th~re is a question asked and an objection

question. Am 1 correct in that?

abili ties, 1 ani asking now a new question.

the question was withdrawn and counsel is reframing another

reason counsel wants to read into the record, 1 don't know

what the reuson is--

1 understood

And the other question is w:;,thdrawD, is that

THE COURT· What i8 the question pending?

THE COURT.

Mf1.. APPEL • Ther ewer e three objections and to avoid thoa e

objections for fear sorre of them should be of some legal

efficacy, which is contrary to all possibilities, and prob-

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Was that statement necessary?

Yes, sir •

13 correct?

14 MR • APPEL·

15 1.1R • KEF. TeE.

16 MR. APPEL· Counsel wants to krlo1Jll if it is necessary. Yes,

171it is absolutely neceasary to disabuse my mind of what w~1.sl

18 running through it.

19 TPE COURT· Let us 1':a~e the c~ues tion •

Franklin found at page 831 of Volume 10,21 language of

20 MR. APPEL. Q 1 will ask you this question, quoting now the I

I
I22 cor,mencing With Line 19: "A--:.:r. Davis asked who Ws.s there I

23 at the tinie," and he says th:lt "Lo8b'lood call'e over to ask for I
24 a bribe at his o(fiGe," "1 told hin; ttat rr,y ;vife and, daughter,

25 1 ttink 1 said my daughter or son,' 1 ar not sure which-- 11

26 now 1 am asking you whether ~e~ade any such statement to
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1 you or not.

•2 MR. FREDERIGKS We object to th~ on the ground no founda-
, -

3 tion has been laid, it is not con~etent, relevant or

4 material, that it is hearsay.

5 A And 1 claim a personal--

6 I-fiR. FREDERICKS' Just a n;orr;ent. llet us take them one at a

7 time, :.;r. Davis, please.

YR • FBEDEHICKS.

All r igh t, sir.8

9

10

A

MR • FORD.

'J'he court may sustain my objection.

The wi'.1ness must now be asked by the attorney who

11 is examining him about the date and the persons present and

12 the place.

13 ,MR. FREDERICKS. Even so, it :is not anything that Frar:klin

TFE COT1Rl'. The objection of the District Attorney is over-

ruled.

ha.s denied.

~I

II
~l
r
!
"

l

i
I ~

il

Tha.tthis conversation is not placed in the

Now, your Honor, 1 claim a personal privilege in that

in this regard:

A

14

15

16

17

18
19 presence of any third person, it directly concerns a case

20

21

that is still pending in the court against 1,:1'. Franklin and

anything that he might hewe said tome with reference to

22 that thing is priVileged, and notWithstanding what he may hav

23 said, 1 tave no right to disclose anything he may have said

24 to me. 1 don't know whether he said that, what he said, but

25
if he did it would not relieve rr,e •

26 ITHE COURT. Do you ir.s ist on the question?
I
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1 MR. APPEL. You W ill notice, \rtr. Davis, that the only reason

2 Why 1 ask you that is because the witness says himself

3 that his daughter and sor. were present.

4 I A When it occurred?

5 MR. APrEL· ye8, when that oc curr ed--

6 t/:R • FREDERICKS. No, not whm the talk between illr. Davis and

7 Franklin occurred.

8 THE WITNESS. If that is 3. fact, lwEI answer the question.

9 .MR. FREDERICKS. No, 1 think the witness misunderstands :,ir.

10 Appel.

11 THE COURT. 1 show the witness my copy of the transcript.

12 (He-nding sarLe to witness.)

13 MR. APPEL. :Jo, 1 do not want to mislead the Witness, :.:r.

14 Fredericks is right, the \vitness does not say he told you

15! t1at in the preser;ce of anyone, he 83.YS he told you that

16 1 \'{hen Lock·.v:od C8.n,e there and asked for the bribe, tlHt his

171 son or daughter and his Wife were present.

181 TPE COURT. Let .the witness look at the transcript •.

19 A 1 underst3.nd you are perfectly fair, but 1 do not think,

20 ;\11'. Appel ougn t to ins is t on my answer ing tha t ques tion •

21 MR. ArrEL. 1 am not insisting, 1 am simply asking you the

22 ques tion •

23 A (After I' eading tr anscr ipt • ) He places it directly

24 between himself.and myself and does not place anybody else

25 there, What he may have said With reference to wbat his

26 Wife' and daughter said or anybody elas 'liould not rriake an
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1 differer.ce in the rUle, 1 do not think, ;;:r. Appel.

2 ~:R. APPEL. Very '.'VeIl. 1 am sinlply 2.sking you. 1 suppose

3 the objection is sustained, your Penor, under those cendi-

4 tions?

5 TEE COLJRT. No. If you insist upon an anS'Ner then the court

6 will rule upon it, whe th er or not it is the duty of this wit-

7 ness to answer the question. The Court has not ruled

8 8 upon any of the claims of personal pr iVilege that this

9 wi tnes8 has made here but will '.f' counsel ins is ts upon an:1.4.

10 ansvver.

11· MR. Al'''EL. Well, your Honor, this is to be followed by other

12 queations and in view of :,:r. Franklin's statement 1 don't

13 think it would be privileged. Fe 03.Y8--1 will ask you this

14 question just in order to get the ruling of the court.

15 A 1 don't want,;!-r. Appel, to be placed in any position of

16 seem ing stubbornness. 1 ho£)e you don t t place me the:c e •

17 1 will 3..6 k you whether or not it was a fa..ct that. from the

18 tlme that you became :,1:. Franklin's attorney--

19 MR.· FORD. The pr eeeding quee tien 1 unders tand is wi thdr awn?

20 MR. APPEL. 1 an; l3.y ing th e fourd a tien. 1 will ask you whe­

21 there or not it is a fact from the time you became ~lr.

22 Franklin's attorney ir:the case against him for bribery, -nhe­

23 ther it is true tr.at youwere acting as a gO-between between

24 :.:r. Darr ow and h iInee I f1 A 1 neirer '.v as.

25 MB. FORD. Fe has not answered the question before the court.

26 MR. FOG ERS • The record stands as it is\ we are not
}
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1 withdraw or put in; the record stands as it is.

2 MR. FORD' It is before your Honor for a ruling then.

3 A 1 beg your pardon for answer ine so quick1 y •

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14
I

15 I

161
17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

251
26 ,

1 s_ca_W_tC_d...:.by_, ~
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1 MR APFEL: Did you, during that time or at 8IJ1Y time, oot

2

3

4

5

6

under instructions from U r Darrow, in any way, shape or man­

ner, in your dealings with Mr Franklin in that case or in

any other case pertaining to matters concerning Mr Dar-

row.

lfR FORD: Obj ooted to as calling for a conclusion of the

7 witness as to the result of Whatever may have transpired

I CQIl see it is mis-A

Only with reference to getting the bail back after

question read by the reporter.)

A

leading inrespect to that. I ~ted for Ur Franklin as at­

torney right along.

UR APPEL: Now, ur Davis, did you ever say to Franklin

between them. We are entitled to know vmat transpired be­

tween them, not the witness' conclusion whether hewas a

gO-between, or whether he was acting upon instructions.

THE COURT: Obj ootion overruled.

he was going to pIead gui I ty •

MR APPEJ:,: That is, then, you only acted with Mr Darrow

with reference to getting the bail money back? A Yes sir.

Q That was the only subj ect upon which you acted for ]:fr

Franklin or Mr Darrow, in connection with Franklin's case,

and outside of that you acted em your own responsibiiiity?

A l~ o~~ initiative.

MR FORD: I think the record ought to stand as it X$. Let

them correctit by questions to th e witness.

1,Ci. DARROW: Head it; read Mr Appel's question. (Last

1 __=.__�

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26



1

2

suggest to him that he should say that the money __ he 5:~~21
got the money he had used in th e bribery of Lockwood, that

3 he got it f~a.m a San Francisco man? A I did not.

4 Q Did Mr Franklin say to you tha t he got th e money from

5 a San Francisco man? A I refuse to answer the qu estion

6 on the ground it is absolutely fjrivileged.

7 THE COUHI': You insist on t m question?

8 llR APPEL: Here is the situation. I ,viII put it to Mr

9 Davis. AAI depends on how he takes it. pege 824.

10 llR FORD: If the court please, we object to any argument

11 on the matter, t.hey either insist on asking it or don't.

12 THE COURL': It is a question of personal privil Ege, I

13 think it is prop er.

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

}IR APPEL: See if he considers it privil ~ed or not.

THE COURr: I think that is quite right.

YR APPEL: At page 824 t the question was asked of ]lr

Franklin. lin e 8,uni d you tell M"r Davi s, when he asked

you at any COnT ersstion or at any pIece or at any time

when he asked you whether you got the monEU-- where you

got the money, t.h at you got it from a Chic ago man, but

we have corrected that by S.F. t -San-Franci-sco ,man?"

A No sir.

Q --You di d not? A -No sir, !!r Davi s told us t ret.

24 Q __ ur Davis told you that? A -- Yes sir. Q -- Now, that

25 is where I 'want it. A -- Not a Chicago man, but there

was a man going l;etween 1.rr Darrow and my self.



have answered that portion, },{r l!.Pf}el, fully, about whether

I told him so and wh ether it occurred at the time when--

A I

or twice, when we were alone and

-- ----------------------------------------

on the 14th of January, in my office, but \-nether he ever

told me so 0 r not, I refuse to mswer on the g round that

it is a privileged communication between an attorney and

He tol d me, once ,

was that and when was it, \..hen 1fr Davis told you?

.55731
I

A -- I
I

Iwe talked and discussed ~ t, at the time, on the 14th dey of i

I
January, wh~ Mr Darrow was p." esant. 'Q -- Once or twice

.,.---- - ,-- ,. ---~--,..,i/

alone. When first alone? A -- I don't remember."

3

4

5

6

7

8

1

2

10

that he got the money from a San Francisco man or a

the pr esenc e of ],{r Darrow on the 14th day of January, 1912t I

- I
IChicago man or any words to that effect?

11 his client. It seems to me you could see when the indict­

12 ment is still pending e,sain st him ttmt I should not.

13 Q I will ask you this question: Did he say to you in

14

15

16

171m FOBD: Obj ected to upon the ground it has already been

18. answered.

nothing to do about it, and he said to Cmlonel Jopnstoru.

that if he told the trut h ooout it, ],{r Ford would not be­

lieve it, as to VIDO it\\'8s. Now, that VIas the statement

he made in the presenc e there.

19

20

21

22

23

THE COURT: Overruled. A No, he said th at Darrow had

24 }lR:HOB]): Will you read the whol e of that answer and see if

26 T~~ COURr: Have the answer read. (Last answer read.)

the witness hoo got it correct?

1 ----------"'--'

25
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1 MR FORD: Was all this before what he sai d to Colonel

2 Johnston? A On January 14th?

3 Q The very first portion? A Let me understand that

4 question.

5 Q The 1?eryfirst sentenc e of your answer; I vent to know
..... i7 .,

6 if ~anklin said he said to COlonel Johnston or whether
------------'---,--~_.-.

7

8

9

10

it 'is an independent statement? A It is \!'fhet he made
_-----.--......----..-~~-------..-...~.,.~~It"I'lP'~~~~~~~1f'!o

there in the presence of :M:rDarrow as to what he had re-
,,.""~"'._"""''-Z';';'O''<,I.~~~--.-........,-..~1Ul'5~~.t'I-.~'''"~..,,~~

~.......~~~~.......;,:lo~~"'..~ -_._-~

~d to COlonJ~l..-Xohnston when he brought the proposition
• _ _ _ _ _ _ ~~~r.-~.,"'~,,-~;~c~:~""t'"i'!',~'l~~.,.2"~'·-ll'n'~~~·-~~~~~:~

fJ:~~~ou-wr>l":~~'*","-...--..'~--.......,.~'~~~-"=t,~:>I-·I'~ " .

11 Q The ver,y first sentence of that answer, if you vdll

12 just tell us about that. A Well, read the first sen­

13 tence of the ans\yer. (First part of answer read by

14 the reporter.)

15 Q' Was that an independent statement or '-hat transpired

16
I

between COlonel Johnston and him? A That is the state-

17 ment hemade in our pr es cnc e on t he 14th day of J anuery ,

18 \vhen Colonel Johnston brought him this. He said Dafrow had

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

nothing to do with it and he told Colonel Johnston so and

if he were to tell you -- he said he told Mr Johnston if

he Vlere to tell you th e truth about who gave him the mon Elf t

that you v~uld not believe him.

MR APPEL: Now. re£erring back to the time that you Vient to

see Mr Franklin in Jail on the d~ of his arrest, did you

say to lfr Franklin, "Why didn't you send for somEbody,1t

did he say to you,. ItI kn err somebody would come to my aid
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1 sooner or later", or something to that effect? A I never

2 said anything to him like that. 'What he said to me does

3 not concern this matter at all.

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
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55"( 6

~he question is not what Franklin said to

2 h illl but did he say this?

3 MR. ArrEL. Q ~id Franklin say anything like that to you?

4 A Wha t?

5 Q,"1 knew that someone would come to fJ'y uid sooner or

6 later"? A No, that W::.I.S not the statement '.

10 of gUilty on the part of the rleNamaras? A It was some­

11 time in the latter part of November, the day before :';l~

12 Fr emon t Older came to the Oi ty of 1,08 Angeles.

7

8

9

13

Q. That was not his statement. ;,;". Davis, when did y~"; fir-~'r

have any conversation or know1edge that any arrangements r

were being made Qr about to be made to bring about ~ Plea~

About how long w'::\.s that before:.~r. FrEmklints arrest?,

14 A About a week, sOl!!eth.ing l.ike i. week before ~.lr. Franklin wa'

15 arr es ted.

16 Q And from whom. and wh~re did you first.get any knowledge

17 or information conc ern ing that fa9t? A 'i'he first know-

18 ledge that 1 had from it 1 got from,Captain Fredericks •

19 Q
• I

Now, that, you say,' w~s the day.before Fremont Older cane

20' from San Fr ane isco? A The day before Frerr:ont 0 lder e arr.e

21 fron} San Francisco.

22 Q, Now, wher e Was it that you go t th at . i nfonia t ion?

23 A At the C,aptaints office.

24 Q What did :I:r. Fredericks say to you at that time? A

. ,25 ,said to. me, "Why don 1 t you C oure, thr augh and let these

. 261 plead: 'gun ty :lIld quit your horse play? n Ano. 1 said to

him--l thought it W::iS ).11 in fun at tre time, 1 said 1
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1 hir ed for tha t purpoa e and 1 S D.id they didn't hir e me to

2 en tel' a plea of guil ty. He said, "You know you are go ing to

3 do it,why don't you do it?" 1 said, "1 don't know anything

4 I of the kind Captain." Well, 1:.e Bays, "Now, you must know

5 about it because a proposition has been put to me to let

6 then plead gUil ty," and I said, "By whom?" He ss.id, "Oh,

7 you know all about it." 1 said, "1 don't know all about it.

8 He said, "If you don't they are keeping something away from

9 you and keep ing you in ilie dark, th e defense." And 1 said--

10 "Who? " He said, "WeD, there are negotiations going on,

11 a cOir:rr:i ttee is being consulted about it, and 1 h ave had a

12 proposition put up to me," c.nd I s,,~id, "I don't know any- I

(

13 thing about it, what is it I" And he aaid that the propo-

14

15

16

17

sition had been put "to let both of them plead gUilty, one

of them to take life and the other one was to take a term

years. I said, "Who is to fix the term of years," and he

said, "John McHamara, the court would have to fix it for. 1t

1

o~

~.
\

18 1 told him 1 had never heard anything about it. Well, he

19 says, "That is a fact," and he offered to get a piece of

20 paper and show me the terms but he didn't do it, and 1 went

21

22

p 23

here.

Q

Now, that was the day before ::'r. Frem;)nt Older came

when did you next have any conversation With any onel

24 connected With that arrangen,ent with reference to th~

25 matter? A I never thought anything about it any more unt"il!

261 the "next morning or the next day, whm:";lr. Fremont Older
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1 here. ;Ar. Darr~ow, 'I'lhen 1 went to the office--l don't know

2 whether it was in the foranoon or afternoon, and went into

3 the off ice) he took me to one side and said, "1!.1'. Older is

4 her e and 1 wan t you to corr~e in and have a talk, ther e ar e

5 some mgotia tiona on for a settlement of this case."

6 THE COUR T. ;111'. Darrow took you to one side?

7 A Yes, sir. That was inthe office, right adjoining 'his

8 private office.

9 MR APPEL.· Q. Well, now, do you remeilber whether or not

10 that was on the 23rd day of November? A 1 would not be

11 positive whether it was onthe 23rd, but it was the day :,ir.

12 Fremont Older came here and it was SQn ewhere along about

13 the 20th, 22nd or 23rd--i t was a week before--i twas

14 during the week before the arrest of Mr. Franklin and about

15 the niddle of the week.

16 Q No'a, were you. present at the conversation between Mr.

17 Darrow and :tr. Older and :,1r. Steffens 7 A 1 was.

18 Q, Anddo you r en,en,ber what, if anything, was said by i;ir.

19 Darrow,at that time in reference to the responsibility of

20 allowing that plea to be entered'? A Yes, 1 remember '.vhat

21 he said.

22 Q State now what was said? A Well, 1 objected on the

23 rrround ttat 1 didn't think it was proper Without consulta­

24 tion with other people--

25 MR. FRDFFPICKS· VIe object to the 'question because it is

26 not clear as to what is meanjt by "That plea ll
•
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1 time, of cour se , that plea might ref er to the plea. of both

2 of them or it rrlight refer to the plea. of one of them.

3 MR. APT'EL. 'iVe will develop it.

4 TFE COURT. The witness has just defined what he meant by

5 it and has referred to the plea and counsel says, "That

6 pleu ll
, and 1 suppose it is the one he is referring' to.

7 :','R. FORD. The first plea.' IV i th reference to Captain Freder-

8 icks in which he says botb were to plead guilty.

9 THE COURT. That is the plea the court assumes re refers

10 to in th is q ues tion •

11 MR • FREDER leKS. Tba t is the ti me 1 am, Gal ~ ing the at tenti::n

12 of the court and the witness to, in order that the witness

13 may know--

14 MR. APPEL. We will ShO"'1 what is meant by it, the whole

15 thing Will be explained.

16 THE caUR T' The whole thing is cl ear.

17 MR. FREDER leKS • 1 t is not clear, accord in g .to my idea of

18 the fac ts •

19 MR. APPEL. Q Just state '.vhat 'Nas said there by :.ir. Darrow

20 and all of you.

21

22

23

24

25

26
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Well, I went into th e room with Mr Older and Mr Dar-

2 row and 1lr Steffens and ur Darrow began to explain to Mr

3 Older -- it was new to me also, -- that Mr Steffens had

4 been negoti~ting with a connnittee, lind my recollootion

5 now is that lfr Lissner, lJrr Earl Md lfr Gibbon and somebody

6 else, Md that he had made an arrangement with that com-

7 mittee that Jim McNamara, J. B., should enter a plea of

8 guilty and take life, and that there should be no prose-

9 cution of John ]fCNamara or anyone else com erned with the

10 case. I then spoke up and said to them I didn't beli~e

11

121

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

that e.rrangement could ever be entered into, from what

Captain Fredericks had said to me on the day before, end

I told them that Captain Fredericks, too, had an entirely

different idea of the propo sition, :tram what Mr Steffens

had said about it, and Steffens spoke up and said, "There

is no question about it·, and he pulled out a little piece

of paper, and he says, "This is what the connnittee gave

me themselves; that that would be satisfactor,ytt, and upon

that was two or three or four lines, I cannot rep eat the

20 words, but in th ere, the substanc e of it was that J. B.

21 was to pleEid gUilty md take life and that there would

22 be no prosecutions of any other kind instituted or pro-

23 ceeded with, that had been instituted.

24 Q Now, vhatwas said about whether those arrangements

25 could be carried out and who should take the responsibil-

26 ity of doing it? A I said nwse1f, I didn't believe i
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1 should be allO'il:ed to enter a plea of gUilty without some

2 consultation with the oth er peopl e.

3 Q what other people? A Well, with 'the men who y~re

4 paying the m<?ney for the defense,ald llfr Darrow said that

5 he considered that his first interests were to the clients

6 themselves, and I said I thought we owed another in ter-

7 est to someone else, end I said to him, "Mr Darrow, it

8 would be the Vlorst thing for you that coul d happenIt,

9 that it woul d ruin him with the labor 0 :rganizations

10 throughout the United States, md I said, Itnot taking

11 into consideration anybody €II se but yourself, I feel in-

12
I

clined to obj ect to entering into an ~reemel1t wit bout

13

14

consultation about it It, ald he said, ItI am willing to take

the responsibility, I am willing to shoulder the burden

15 wi thlAbor, and if anybody suffers by it it will 1:e me,

16 not you", and I said, "Mr Darrow, you are leading counsel

17 in the case, and I will have to submit to Ymat you say)

18 but I think you better think it over and consult with

19 somebody else exc ept th e boy s. tt

20 Q What did you mean by the "boys It? A :f. B. and :fohn

21 McNamara.

22
----------......

Q What did :fudge lfcNUtt say about it whil e you were

23 th ere? A :fudge :McNutt c arne into th €I conversation shortly

When were you next consul ted about the rna tter?Q

after wards, and he entirely fgreed vrith Mr Darrow, and

I entirely disagreed with hfm at that time.

24

25

26
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

was not consulted about it any more until Sunday night, but

I kn E!\"r of t he negotiations that were going on with Mr Dar­

row and 1fr Steffens and Judge lfcNutt, by just hearing :M:r

Steffens say, he had talked with so end so and rpported.

Q Now, what happened on SUnday night? A What happened

on Sunday night ?

Q Yes. A Well, Sunday night my telephone rang end

Judge McNutt -- I answered the phone, and JUdge J.i!'cNutt

said "Is this llr Davis?" I answered it was, and he

calls, "Is this Le COmpte?" I said, "yes", and he said,

"I vrant you to come over to my house immediat~ly, Mr Dar­

row has had to go away to make some address of some kind,
-

and he wanted me to see you and to have a 'conferenc e with

you about what we had done today", so I went over to Judge

What were you infor.med there?Q

15 I McNutt's house on Sunday night.

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

},fR FnEDERICl\J3: YTe obj ect to the conversation between

JUdge McNutt and J,fr Davis as being hearsay.

1m. APFEL: . We propose to show, your Honor, that JUdge 1\.fcNutt

was then acting in entire accord withUr Darrow's instruc­

tions and understanding, rod that we v.ent to follow fram

that what Mr Davis \WiS requested to do and what he did do

in the matter.

UR FORD: There is no foundation laid as to persons pre-

sent.

llR APPEL: I don't care for the pe rsons present, he
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1 J'udg e J.fCNut t and he.

2 lfR FOB]): If there is any oth at' person p:eesent --

3 1m APPEL: Yes, there might have been the servant girl

4 in the kitchen.

5 A Nobody el se ves p:" esent at all.

6 THE COURT: He says thet nobody else was present. Ob­

7 j action eN erruled.

8 A J'udge 11cNutt says. "No", we had a conference with the
,.} /

9 boys today in the county j ai1; we couldIh't get you; Vie

10 telephoned for you two 0 r three times before VIe went

11 there, and we couldn't catch you, and vIe :Eft word for

121 you to come to the county jail, and we had a converse­

13 I tion with the boys with referenc e to this pI €a of

14 guilty", and I said, "Have you agreed upon the t enns

15 with Captain Fredericks any more definite than had been? •

16 Well, he says, "According to the returns of Mr Steffens we

17 have, but", he said, "we made arrangements in either

18 event n. And I said, lti,Vhat did you do?"

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26



ter~ A The ne xt day?

satisfactory and they would explain the matter satisfac-

He said, "We had a talk with them and J. B. McNamara con-

A tAonday?

I
1 said, "Under tl:at statement, if that is true, 1\tor ily • II

Q Yes, sir.

Q What did you- do the next day wi th reference to th3. t m3..t-"

peni tentiary and be sa tisf ied. with 10 years. II Now, he said,

"We do not think from what kIr. Steffensssaid that he will.

he said, "that is the agreement between ;,~r. rarrow and myself

'ind ·the bOYS," and he says, "1 don't thir:k you have any

right to stand out against an agreement of that kind," and 1

said, "Did you ask the boys whether it would be satisfactory

to labor?" and he said, "'We did and they said it would be

enter a plea of gUilty and take his sentence and go to the

,
receive his sentence and he, John, would then come in and

have to enter any plea of guilty at all, we do not think

he wi}l have to accept any years, but if what Captain

Fredericks said to you is true and is insisted upon that

John w111 take his ten -years a.nd go to the peni tentiary"and

alL will ing that trey may enter a plea of guil ty. II

plead guil ty and t:3.ke a term of years not to exceed ten

years and that if J.B. would not consent to it, let J.B.

sented to enter a pEa of guilty and take life, but" that

J. B. would not consent to John entering a plea of guilty an

take anything and" he said, IIwe had a conversation Vi ith

John McNarnarahimself where John NcNamara said that he would

17p 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10 I

11 I
12

13

. 14

15 I

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 I
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1 Q At whose request? A 1 went up to see Captain ~'edericks

2 about it.

3 Q At whose request? A On Monday, myself, on the suggestion

4 of ;,lr. narrow and Judge McNutt, then 1 took up and said

5 "What was that proposition?"

6 Q Monday, in the morning did you go up? A 1 don't know

7 'Nhether it was n'"'on or \'fhether it was inthe afternoon or

8 wha t t 1me it was.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Q You went on Monday morning? A 1 went up there sometime

and 1 said, "What Via's this proposition you told me that had-----been made to you?" and he r ela te.d the same propos i tion, and

1 said, "The boys never would plead guilty and let the

jUdge fix th e sen tence of ,Tohn unless they knew the JUdge's,
idea as to what that sentence would be."

'---
Q When he said that he told to you the same proposition he

III

16 had stated before, what was tlat? A That Jim would have

17
----.

to take I ife and J.J. would have to take a term of years, an

18 that the jUdge ',vould have~ it.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q What did you s~ to that? A 1 said that 1 didntt think

we could ever get the boys to consent to that arrangement---and 1 said, "What is your idea of a term of years?" And he-
finally said, "Ten years," that he would be satisfied With

-
ten years. --... ,....
Q Whe,t did yousay--

MR . FREDER leKS. On Monday?

26 A Tho. t was on Monday, Captain.
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MR • AP PF. L. Q, IV e 11, what did you say? A 1 sai d, "1 Vi i 11

see what 1 r;an do witt the boys with reference to it."

1

2

3

4'

Q

A

You knew before hemd that they had agreed to ten years?

1 knew what they had agreed to do, but we were trying

gettir{S the boys to take a sentence of ten years and the III'

he would not consider letting him go at all and he says, "I"'

"There is no us~ of your talking to me about him going free, a

A I was trying to get the very best termsQ Yes, 8ir •

talking about it under any circun,st::mces, so 1 left him,

Q ~:r. Bavls, are you sure at that time ;;lr. Fredericks on

Monday stated to you that they would have to plead gUilty

-

east that would not be satisfactory and there Was no use

saying that 1 would see what 1 could do with reference to

John", and he s~.1id he had received some info:ma.tion frOIY; the

and, if pass ib1 e, to get John off, and Cap tain--'- e said tha t

to get the be~:t terms we could with reference to the matter.

6aptain said they would have to plead guilty at the same

time. 1 knew that there would be difficulty to bring
T ----

J. Bo to consent to John pleading gUilty at that time.

at the san.e time? A ~i;y recollection is trat he sacid so at :

Ithat time and so 1 reported tack. '

Q Now, wasmtt that on Wednesday? A Yes, that was on ~edne~-
He I

said at that tin,e, "have to t3ke the ten years~' and 1 said

ds.y when he said it would have to be at the sarr,e time.

"1 will see wha t we can do with the boys."

Q ~~o'!J, wh:;..t did you say to him then about.de/laying

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

6 16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

\ 25

26
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it up the neY:t ["or n ing.

Q Did you then say to :.:1'. McNutt and Mr. Darrow and :Ar.

ill

In
IP

II

A 1 repor ted

A 1 never said anything at that time.

and J. J • would have to t 3ke at 1 eas t 10 years • ..,.... '_"',.,..",

Q, And what did all those persons tben say? A They said

that was the on11 thing to do under the circumst~ncesJ and

that they would accept the proposition themselves and take

the plea?

Steffens being present, that L: ... Fredericks would be satis­

fi;;dwith a plea on the part of J. J. of 'guilty, With a

sentence of ten years, and the otter one With a plea of

gUilty With a life term imprisonment sentence? A 1 reporte

that Captain Fredericks said J.B. would have to take life

b::.l.ck to Judge McNutt and i:i.r. r;arrow just eXCActly what the

Captain said.

Q NOW, what did you do tten after tha t?

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16\
17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 ,
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1 Q, Take it up the n ex:t momi~? A yes si r.

2 Q, Wh at did you say? A I said, all right. I was to re-

3 port back the next morning.

4 Q, Report to ;.vho? A Until in th e evening late, we held

5 a consultation about it. I was to report to Captain Fred--
6 ericks next morning, that will be Tuesday ~orni':a~/7 IJ~ . ~~ ·1

___ . -----........--------- t' ~'" <..
7 Q, Now, t.he nex:t morning now, \'hat was J. J. to plead

8 guilty to, i1' you remember? A He ViaS to plead gUilty --

9 I don't knOVl ""'nether at that time it ha:l been. rgreed which,

io but my understanding I beli eve it was at that time or

11

12 I
SUbsequently ~reed he was to plead gUilty in the Llewellyn

case.

13 Q Your answer is at that time or subsequently? A At

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

that time or subsequently it was agreed -- I don,t know

whether it was at that time or at a subsequent date.

Jffi APPEL: Now, on that l.{onday, you say the consultation

lasted until late: that night. Now, after they all agree­

ing, as you have said, with such a plea as that, and such

a term 01' imprisonment should be accepted, was there any­

thing said about any further efforts to get better terms?

A I was to take it up next morning orn~ wJ.th-
/' --- ~ --------

the Captain and. see i1' we couldn't get ~~.t.t..e.J:-...:tJt:;'D1s_
"'-......- ~ .. . "'-- ....Uo' -"...

still, if \\e coUldn't,then to accept th2.1?"~_t~~!_
~ ... ..... ~_......_..-,..,..;.o.ot"'r......'•......,-,...."-I..'.......J",.-~ .."':"""',•.,.,.,."'"''';.I' ~-"_Iui'''' .

Q, Now, vhat did Steffens do? A What did he do about

what?

Q, What did he do? A He was to see the commi ttee and
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'"'" *-~'~'~"~" ...', .-.~.•".4·._~ _••.;.,,~

dnced this paper showing -- he said, "I assure you upon my

Honor, that this was given by me ", and I think he said,

lrr Lissner, but I know by one of the committee, "and. that

is all they demand. Well, I said, "That is not all that

the Captain demands, II and I insisted th at th~ s end one

of the committee to see Captain, and they said they would

get l\rr Harry Chandler to do it, wh at her they wer did or

I
have a talk with them, and I reportedf'> the second conversa-

tion, t. bat Captain still said that, and ur. Steffens pro-

not, I don t t know.

Q Now, you were to report back to Mr Fredericks the next

daY,-Tuesday morning? A Yes sir.

Q .And you'were at the same time, to try to get, if pos­

sible, better terms? A Better terms, if not get five

Y:' ears, if po ssible.

Q But you had in your mind then that if no better terms

could be obtained, that plea,· as arranged, and passed by

Mr Fredericks, should be entered? A There was no question

about it.

Q Now, that was the condition of -- well, that was in

your mind on lEonday night? A Tuesday morning, too.

Q Tuesday morning, too. Now, on Tuesday morning, what

did you do? A on Tuesdaymoming, the arr;;~·--~;-';.~;;~~2i

lin occurred, and I stated to ur Darrow and .rudge llcNutt,

"It is all off". I said, "Nobody will take a plea of'

guilty after this has occurred." .And we had consultatio

1
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5
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8
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That was on Wednesday? A On \\ednesday. And so I

went to th e Captain. I saidli "Captain, does it still go

That vwas onVTednesday.

Well, what did you say to him? A I told him that I

would do it, of cou:me.· I \'VOuld go and report it back

that we would do it, and to let us have a chance, then -­

then is when I said to him about the difficulty of bring­

ing Jim to consent to John taking any sentenc e. He said,

"They both gDt to pl ead guilty at the same time." Then,

I said, "If they dO,we have got to have a talk with them

and talk with Jim about it." He said, "Well, you hare tome­

row -- tomorrow is Thanksgiving day and you can have all

day to talk it over ...vi th him, if you want to, and I am

going out to the golf clUb, and you can phone me at my

home tonight, or Thanksgiving night, md let me mow. It ~

Q \ilat did you do on Thanksgiving day? A I went over

A

-
what you told me, -or is it all off?lt .And he says, "That

\ .

if they plead gUilty, take life for one and ten year~..L ..~:. __ ... ,,"

it can go through just the same. "Q-That was on Wednesday.

and consulta~ion, and talked about it, and finally Yr

Steffens c arne around in th e afternoon or late in the even-

iDB and said that the committee said it 'WOuld make no dif­

ference, that.they had talked VTithUr Harry Chandler and

the others, and they said it would make no difference, and

they said then that I must take it up with the Captain

th e n EOCt morning.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
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1 for the first time to talk with the boys about th air plea

2 of guilty.

3 Q Well, whatever happened there, was. it finally agreed

4 that plea -- ~hat they should both plead guilty together?

5 A
---~-'

\U1Y, Jim first said that he woul d pI ead gUilty himself,

6

7

8

9

10

but he would never consent to John pleading gUilty, and

they talked with. him and then I took htm off to one side,

and I said, "Do you want to be· hung?tI and he said, "I

don,t care whether I am hung or not", he said, "it is a mat

ter of indifferenc e to me, but I will never consent to my ,

11 brother John taking a year. It Then I said, "DO you want

12 your brother hung, too?" .1: said, "It looks like that

13 to me; you want to hang your brother, too".

14­

15 I
I
I

16

17

18

19

20
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22
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24

25

26
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to hinl Thursday night when he calLe home that we would enter

for J. B. and he said--l saki, "Now, will you assure us that

1 said, "Th:d was I
Well, he says, "1 am not to 1

I

actual s ervic e • "

1 said, "1 am satisfied of that, Captain, but"

mean quite 10 years of

not what we understood."

blaIre."

cuI ty to ge t JiIT. to consent to th3. t," :m d then the f •. at ter

was continued over until:·B o' c l ock, and at another talk

we finally consented to 15 years.

1 B2,id, "It makes a different change in the situation, and

1 will have to talk witt the boys again." "Vi'e had diffi-

sa.ys, "1 can ' t make it 10 years," says, "15 years would not

a plea of gUil ty, take ten years for John and tame 1 if e

change," he says, "It will have to be 15 years. It He

-----._~~---. -~ -"". ~ ---- --' - ~

Q that was Friday? A Friday morning, when it was to COITe

up at 10 o'clock, and he told me, he says, "1 will have to

Q Tbey agreed then to plead together? A They agreed then

to plead together.

Q Did you report that to Captain Fredericks? A 1 reported

559fl
With that he began to ory and he finally sai d, ·Bri-~~-··?~hn· I

in." And brought John in and 1 st~yed there talking with

him and the others did, and .Jim said, "Well, under those

circumstances it is the best 1 can do, go ahead and do it."
_ .••. ~c.•.,~ ..•~."_..· .....·,,.''"'.·''"'_.,.''''-''''', .......-...'''',.,··,,..........'

is all he will get?" He said, "1 will assure you tomorrow

morrllng and what 1 tell you then you can rely on." He

. soy, It 1 think ther e VIi 11 be no diff icu1 ty about the ten

~ars." The nevt morning 1 ~ent to see him--

196 1
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1 Q ;he plea was not entered in the morning on account of

2 that change? A On accou~t of that change.
\

3 Q And it was postponed to corne off at a o'clock inthe

4 I afternoon? A a 0' clock inthe afternoon is nly recollection

5 of the hour.

6 Q Between the morning and a 0' clock· the McUan':ara boys

7 agreed to this modification? A Tbey ~greed to the modi-

8 fication 6

9 Q And they came in and pl,sad gUilty th~lt afternoon?

10 A Plead gUilty that afternoon.

11 Q. lr: a8cordance with the rr:odification and the request of

12 the District Attorney? A With that u:r..derstanding that

13 it was to be 15 years and the other, but they "j-er,e not

14 sentenced at that time. 1 tried to induce Captain Freder-

15 icks to have them senter:ced on the 6~une day but he said,

16 "No," it would have to go over. /'

17 MR. APPEL. We ask yeur Honor for an adjournment at this

(Jury adlLOn is h ed.

,Just a niomm t, call the

The witness has requested the court to

time.

THE· COURT. Yes, it is 5 0' clock"

cour t to order.

iviR. DAYIS. I wi,ll state this, unle~s C21ptair. S21ys he is

going to take ffiore than half a day) then if he does 1 don't

necees until JUly 3S, 1912.)

care to con:e before 10, If by coning at hal f past nine i'

convene a little earlier tomorrow morning in order to

accon,rilodate him because of 1':io3 professional duties.

18
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26
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1 could gett.hrough at 12 o'clock, it will be a great favor

2 to me and 1 know to tbecouIt, because this is tt,e seaond

3 time they have adjourned on my account.

4 I MR. FREDERICKS. Well., if--1::ave you any furtr-er questions1

5 1m .AI'PEL. A few.

6 lv'lR. FREDERICKS. 1 doubt if we can get through. If 1 find

7 '{{hen it comes to 13 0 'c~cck that half an hour would. put

8 U8 through then we can take tha t half hour after 13, but

9 1 doubt if it will do any good.

10 THE COURT. Very well, the order of arjournnJent stands-

11

12

13
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(Adjourned to 10 A.M _ July 26, 1912.)




